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4=%° OVERVIEW INFORMATION

Company Information

+ Trading name: Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre
+ International name: DONGHAI JOINT STOCK COMPANY OF BENTRE
+  Abbreviated name: DOHACO

+  Enterprise Registration Certificate No.: 1300358260 issued by the Department of Planning and
Investment of Ben Tre province for the first time on April 2, 2003 and adjusted for the 20th time on
January 10, 2023.

«  Charter capital: VND 804,930,480,000 as of December 31, 2024.
«  Stock code: DHC

Contact Information

* Address: Lot Alll, Giao Long Industrial Park, An Phuoc
Commune, Chau Thanh District, Ben Tre Province, Vietnam.

+  Phone number: (0275) 3611 666
«  Fax number: (0275) 3635 222 - (0275) 3611 222
+  Website: www.dohacobentre.com.vn

+  Email: donghai@dohacobentre.com

General information
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4=’ FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT PROCESS
—

Milestones

1994

2003

In 07/1994, the Packaging
Factory was established as a

On February 4, 2003, Officially transformed In

12/2007, Construction

state-owned enterprise under
the Department of Fisheries
of Ben Tre province.

Donghai Joint Stock Company
Of Bentre officially became a
public company according to
the announcement of the State
Securities Commission.

into Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre
under Decision No. 4278/Qb-UB of the
People’s Committee of Ben Tre Province on
December 25, 2002 in the form of equitization.

On July 23, 2009, Donghai Joint Stock
Company Of Bentre officially listed and
traded shares on the Ho Chi Minh City
Stock Exchange (HOSE) with the stock
code DHC.

commenced on the first phase of
the Giao Long Paper Plant in Chau
Thanh - Ben Tre, with an investment
cost of 165,000,000,000 VND.

In 01/2011, Donghai Joint Stock
Company Of Bentre held the
inauguration of the first phase of
the Giao Long paper factory and

2015

2016

Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre
officially moved the Company’s headquarters
to the address: Lot Alll Giao Long Industrial
Park, An Phuoc Commune, Chau Thanh

District, Ben Tre Province.

Packaging Factory No. 2.

2020

The company is implementing
the Giao Long paper factory
phase 2 project with a capacity
of 660 tons/day.

2023

-.
»

Established a Company’s
subsidiaries, Ben Tre
Packaging One  Member

Company Limited, with a total
investment of 150 billion VND.

2024

04/2022: Ben Tre Packaging One
Member Company Limited officially
went into operation.

06/2022: Contributed capital to
establish Giao Long Paper Joint Stock
Company. The total investment of the
project is 1,800 billion VND.

On July 17, 2023, the Solar Power Project
was commenced at Donghai Joint Stock
Company Of Bentre.

The company contributed an additional 30
billion to Ben Tre One Member Company
Limited, increasing the total charter capital
of this Company’s subsidiaries to 180
billion.

»
»

In 05/2024, shares were
purchased to contribute
capital to Giao Long Paper
Joint Stock Company
to increase the charter
capital of this company to
360 billion VND.

O,
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4. FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT PROCESS (conminuen)

ll

Typical achievements

—m..

+  Gold Cup for Viethamese Brand Products

integrating into WTO
+  Vietham’s Top Brand Gold Cup - Vietnam

Brand Magazine

Brand certifications of Donghai Joint Stock

Company Of Bentre

Gold Cup for Brand - Product - Reputation - Quality — 2008
Certificate of Vietnamese Brand Products integrating into WTO
Certificate of Top 100 leading brands in Vietham — 2008

Brand certifications of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre
Certificate of prestigious quality brand — 2009

Certificate of Reliable Supplier in Vietham - 2009

Vietnam National Brand 2022

Top 50 best listed companies in Vietnam in 2022

Top 50 best listed companies in Vietnam in 2023

Top 50 best listed companies in Vietham in 2024

Vietnam National Brand in 2024

General information
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455’ BUSINESS LINES AND AREAS

Business lines

The company has the following main business lines:

Production of pulp, paper and board.
Production of corrugated paper, corrugated board, packaging from paper and board.
*  Printing.

Services related to printing.

And other business lines according to Business Registration Certificate No. 1300358260 issued by the Department of Planning

& Investment of Ben Tre Province for the first time on April 2, 2003 and re-issued for the 20th time on January 10, 2023.

Business area

The company’s main business
operations are in the Southern region,
especially the two major key economic
regions of the country, the Mekong
Delta and the Southeast. This is an
area with rapid economic growth,
focusing on many manufacturing and
processing industries, leading to a
high demand for paper and packaging.

@ General information
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)3 INFORMATION ON GOVERNANCE MODEL, BUSINESS
== ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT APPARATUS

Governance model

Based on Clause 1, Article 137 of the Enterprise Law 2020, DHC chooses the organizational model:

General Meeting of Shareholders
Board of Directors
Board of Supervisors

General Director

Management apparatus diagram

GENERAL MEETING OF

SHAREHOLDERS

BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
INTERNAL AUDIT
COMMITTEE
GENERAL DIRECTOR
DEPUTY ( DEPUTY ‘
GENERAL DIRECTOR y . GENERAL DIRECTOR
HUMAN GIAO LONG FINANCE AND PAPER PACKAGING
RESOURCE PAPER ACCOUNTING BUSINESS PLAN BUSINESS PLAN PACKACING
ADMINISTRATION FACTORY DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENT FACTORY

DEPARTMENT

General information
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)3 INFORMATION ON GOVERNANCE MODEL, BUSINESS
=== ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT APPARATUS

(CONTINUED)

Company’s subsidiaries, affiliated companies

No Name of compan Charter capital Business lines Percentage
: pany (VND) of ownership
. Company’s subsidiaries
Ben Tre Packaging One Member . . .
o 180,000,000,000 Production and trading of Carton packaging. 100%
Company Limited
2 Giao Long Paper Joint Stock Company  360,000,000,000 Production and trading of industrial paper 99.42%

Il. Company’s affiliated company

1 Tan Cang Giao Long Joint stock Company 10,000,000,000 Providing port operation and transportation services 26%

u General information
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The restriction of plastic waste, the limitation of using nylon bags, and the increasing encouragement of using

alternative paper packaging are showing signs of widespread and strong development in Vietnam. The outstanding
advantages of paper packaging compared to plastic packaging have gradually made this item popular in countries
around the world. With the desire to both develop a product line with a trend of development that brings efficiency,
and maintain the surrounding living environment and protect the environment, Donghai Joint Stock Company Of
Bentre has decided to invest and focus on producing and trading 02 main product lines: industrial paper and carton
packaging. In particular, GIAO LONG PAPER industrial paper is a key product line, present on the market from
January 1, 2011 to date, and is increasingly appreciated and trusted by domestic and foreign customers.

Promote and build the GIAQ LONG paper brand as environmentally friendly, meeting consumer trends and contributing

to consolidating the Company’s development foundation.

With that ideal, Dong Hai constantly strives, contributes to innovation, and shares values with its partners and
employees. We are always ready and welcome every opportunity and challenge on the journey to realize our ideals.

@ ﬁ@g %#W\%ﬁ ,

OHAC GIAOLONG PAPER

Mission

Take action for @ fetter bf"

Demonstrating the strong development aspiration of Donghai Company based on the living environment of the surrounding
community in particular and Vietnam in general, with the current trend of the world, environmentally friendly paper products
are gradually replacing plastic products that cause serious pollution to the environment, contributing to changing people’s
awareness in the work of protecting the green environment. This is a call to all officials and employees of Donghai Joint Stock
Company Of Bentre to think and raise awareness of responsibility and take practical actions in their daily work, including

awareness and responsibility in preventing pollution and protecting the environment.

@ General information




4’ DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATION (conmnuen)

Core values

Core values are the most important values, the soul of the Company. Different
from values in the usual sense, the Company’s core values aim for depth,
sustainability, and long-term vision. At Dong Hai, we are ready to show and let
everyone see the Company’s core values: “Respect - Fairness - Commitment -
Safety - Ethics - Compliance”. Dong Hai always operates to achieve the most

important values that the Company has set out.

“Respect - SFairness - Gommitment - Safety - Gthics - Gompliance”

The Company’s main objectives

The company operates in the spirit of “DOHACO is committed to bringing maximum benefits to customers” with the main
objective of “Developing into a strong enterprise, with 02 industrial paper product lines - carton packaging as the focus of
development”. The Company is also actively seeking new partners to expand the market and increase market share in the
industrial paper segment

Medium and long-term development strategy

Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre (DHC) is one of the leading paper manufacturers in Vietnam. With more than 20
years of experience, DHC has affirmed its position in the market and is one of the enterprises that actively contribute to the

development of the Vietnamese paper industry.

In the period of 2024-2030, DHC sets a goal of sustainable development, becoming one of the leading paper manufacturing
enterprises in the region, with specific goals as follows:
In the long term, the Company’s main objective is to improve production technology, enhance product quality, and reduce

production costs, thereby lowering prices and increasing competitiveness compared to businesses in the same industry.

The Company also focuses on researching and developing recycled, environmentally friendly products, meeting consumer

trends and contributing to the development of the Company’s core values.

Focus on expanding and developing the domestic market, promoting and building the GIAO LONG paper brand to
increase the competitiveness of products against domestic and foreign competitors. The company also focuses on

seeking export opportunities to countries in the region.

+ Develop a human resource development strategy through recruitment and training, improving skills for workers, and

developing management skills.

@ General information




4’ DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATION (conrimueo)

Sustainable development goals

The Board of Directors and the Company’s Executive Board always determine that sustainable development is a top priority.
In particular, environmental, social and community issues are among the focuses that the Company pays special attention to
and takes practical actions.

As a specialized paper and packaging manufacturing enterprise, the Company is always aware that the business operations
of the enterprise, whether large or small, have certain impacts on the surrounding environment. Therefore, the Company
always values environmental protection, considering it one of the key tasks of the enterprise. To minimize the impact on the
environment, the Company has focused on investing in a wastewater treatment system. DHC’s wastewater treatment system
is designed and operated according to national standards, ensuring thorough treatment of pollutants in wastewater, meeting

discharge standards.

In addition, DHC always cares about the life, health and spirit of employees, focusing on organizing group activities and social

activities to improve the solidarity of workers. With the goal of improving the quality of life for employees, the company has

built and completed many social policies, salaries, bonuses, etc. for officials and employees at the enterprise.

‘Sustainable Devetopment, Greating @ Gireerv Suture”

General information
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4. RISKS IN THE OPERATIONAL PROCESS

—

Economic risks

According to the latest report from the General Statistics Office on the socio-economic situation of Vietnam in 2024, our
country has just witnessed a relatively impressive economic growth in the past year. Specifically, the GDP index in 2024
reached a growth rate of 7.09% compared to 2023 (exceeding the level of 6 — 6.5% in the plan set out at the beginning of the
year). In which, the agricultural product group increased by 2.94% and the aquatic product group increased by 4.03%. The
nature of the paper manufacturing industry is inherently a supporting industry for other manufacturing sectors, so the growth
of this sector during the year is a positive sign for the Company. Also this year, both the inflation rate and interest rates in
Vietnam have always been kept stable thanks to the regulation of reasonable monetary policies by the State Bank of Vietham

(SBV), thereby creating a low-risk environment for the Company to effectively utilize financial instruments.

Regarding the global macroeconomic situation, the FED’s interest rate cut from 5.5% to 4.5% in the last 4 months of the year
caused the US Dollar Index (DXY) to surge, thereby causing the USD exchange rate to increase, creating a direct challenge
for the Company as almost all of the main input material, OCC (old corrugated containers), needs to be imported from the US
and Europe. The high exchange rate, coupled with geopolitical instability around the Red Sea, has made maritime transport

difficult, directly causing transportation costs and international trade activities around this area to skyrocket.

General information




4=’ RISKS IN THE OPERATIONAL PROCESS (conmnuen)

——

Legal risk

Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre organizes
its operations within the legal framework of
Vietnam, including the Enterprise Law, Securities
Law, Environmental Protection Law, and other
relevant legal regulations. As a joint stock company
listed on the HOSE, the Company is also subject
to the provisions of multilateral trade agreements
to which Vietnam is a signatory. Changes in legal
regulations may affect the Company’s operations
as well as its medium and long-term strategies.

Therefore, regular monitoring and updating of

legal information is necessary for the Company
to develop appropriate business goals and
strategies, ensure compliance, and maintain its

corporate image.

Occupational safety risk

Due to the nature of the manufacturing industry,
the majority of workers must undertake tasks
that require physical strength and work in
environments with high dust density and noise
from machinery. This emphasizes the importance
of an effective occupational safety management
system to protect workers. This has always been
one of the top priorities of the Company’s Board

of Directors.

To concretize this, the Company performs periodic
equipment inspections, in parallel with monitoring

the health records of employees. Employees are

fully equipped with personal protective equipment
when working to minimize negative impacts ] . _

on health. The company focuses on guiding |

employees to self-assess occupational safety r \ ‘@ n ’
risks and conduct surveys of potential hazards . . : ‘

that may cause injury, illness and affect the health

of employees in the workplace, thereby improving
the effectiveness of occupational safety risk

management.

@ General information



4. RISKS IN THE OPERATIONAL PROCESS (conmmueo)

—

Raw material risk

Risks specific to the paper industry mainly concentrate on input materials and production processes. Firstly, regarding the
main input material in the paper production line, OCC, continuous fluctuations in OCC prices in supply markets have created
considerable challenges, requiring the Company to exercise caution in procurement and inventory management activities to
ensure business efficiency aligns with the plan. Secondly, the quality of OCC is an essential factor because, although paper is a
recyclable and reusable material, the number of times it can be recycled is limited. Each time it undergoes the recycling process,

the bonding fibers between the pulp weaken, leading to separation that affects the finished paper.

General information
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4=’ RISKS IN THE OPERATIONAL PROCESS (conmnuen)

——

Environmental risk

Regarding the recycled paper production process, used cardboard needs to undergo a series of extremely complex sorting,
production, and testing processes. On the other hand, the paper manufacturing industry in general and the Company in
particular have clearly recognized the environmental impacts caused by this production process and are making every effort
to improve the situation. The large scale of production leads to the discharge of large amounts of emissions and wastewater,
directly affecting the living environment around the production facility. The Company has made commitments related to green
production and sustainable development by outlining a detailed process of plans, options, resources, and implementation
of “greening production”. The Company has successfully put into operation a modern wastewater treatment system with a

designed capacity of up to 4,900m?3/day, helping to treat and remove most of the waste.

Other risks

In addition to the risks mentioned above, natural disasters, floods or fires are also unpredictable risks that can directly affect
the Company’s production and business operations. In particular, the specificity of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre
is that it is an enterprise in the paper manufacturing sector, and production equipment is prone to fire and explosion, causing
great damage to the Company. Therefore, paper industry enterprises in general and the Company in particular need to train

officials and employees in the enterprise on fire prevention measures, to avoid losses of life and property.

@ General information
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Operational situation
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Production and business operation situation

Organization and personnel

Investment situation, project implementation situation
Financial situation

Shareholder structure, changes in owner’s investment capital
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PRODUCTION AND BUSINESS OPERATION SITUATION

ll

Results of production and business operations during the year

Unit: VND
Implementation  '™Plementation
Implementation in Implementation in p 2024/
Item 2024 Plan 2024/ B
2023 2024 Implementation
Plan 2024
2023
Total revenue 3,258,908,541,602 3,279,000,000,000 3,596,507,144,729 109.68% 110.36%
Total cost (2,987,1083,800,641) - (8,399,616,339,180) - 113.81%
Profit before tax 358,098,054,289 - 279,222,800,993 - 77.97%
Profit after tax 309,338,388,739 300,000,000,000 242,196,652,212 80.73% 78.30%

In 2024, the Viethamese paper and packaging industry faced numerous impacts from the global economic and geopolitical
context. Although global inflation was better controlled, instabilities such as exchange rate fluctuations and geopolitical
tensions still affected market demand. Notably, exports of paper and packaging to the Chinese market — the world’s largest
pulp import market — recorded a decline in both output and selling price. In addition, production costs increased due to
rising prices of input materials such as recovered recycled paper (OCC), mainly due to supply competition and increased
transportation costs, which narrowed the profit margins of businesses in the industry. However, large packaging consuming
industries such as agriculture, seafood, especially textiles and footwear, have recovered strongly, achieving positive export
results and thereby actively supporting domestic packaging demand. Nevertheless, some specific export markets still face
many challenges, requiring businesses in the industry to closely monitor market developments and proactively develop
appropriate response strategies.

In 2024, Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre achieved net revenue of VND 3,596.5 billion, exceeding the plan by
9.68% and increasing by 10.36% compared to 2023. This result is considered positive as the industrial paper market
faced many challenges such as increased OCC raw material prices and electricity costs, along with oversupply due to new
factories joining, which put pressure on the selling prices of paper and packaging. This positive result was achieved thanks
to maintaining stable operating efficiency at all three of the Company’s factories, combined with a strategy to expand market
share in the carton packaging sector, effectively exploiting the trend of sustainable development and the market'’s shift from
plastic to paper packaging. However, the Company’s profit before tax and profit after tax in the past year recorded a certain
decline, mainly due to intense competitive pressure in the paper industry, along with a sharp increase in the price of input
materials (especially OCC, accounting for about 70% of total production costs). This has significantly increased input costs,
thereby putting direct pressure on the Company’s profit margins in the past year.

Net revenue structure

Unit: VND
Net revenue Value in 2023 Value in 2024 % 2024/2023
Revenue of finished goods 3,246,569,886,848 3,423,897,711,763 105.46%
Revenue of goods sales 12,193,200,209 172,463,978,421 1414.43%
Other revenues 145,454,545 145,454,545 100.00%
TOTAL 3,258,908,541,602 3,596,507,144,729 110.36%

®
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4%’ ORGANIZATION AND PERSONNEL
—

Board of Directors

List of Member of the Board of Directors

Number of shares (As of March 10, 2025)

Board of Directors’ . Individual Representative
No. members Position
%/ %/
Quantity Charter Quantity Charter
capital capital

1 Mr. Luong Van Thanh Chairman of the Board, Deputy General Director 3,041,917 3.78% - -

2 Mr. Le Ba Phuong Vice Chairman of the Board, General Director 7,515,008 9.34% - -
3 Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia Non-executive Board of Directors’ members 1,766,800 2.195% - -
4  Mr. Marco Martinelli Independent Board of Directors’ members 186,875 0.23% - -
5 Mr. Duong Thanh Cong  Non-executive Board of Directors’ members 1,454,250 1.81% - -

In 2024, there were no changes in the Company’s Board of Directors.

@ Operational situation during the year
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4. ORGANIZATION AND PERSONNEL (conrmueo)

Board of Directors (continued)

ll

Curriculum Vitae of Member of the Board of Directors

+  Date of birth: 12/11/1962

- Qualification: Bachelor of Economics
Mr. Luong Van Thanh .
Chairman of the BOD,
Deputy General Director

Current Position: Chairman of the Board of Directors, Deputy General
Director

*  Number of shares held personally: 3,041,917 shares, equivalent to 3.78%
of charter capital

«  Position in other companies/organizations:

»  Member of the Board of Directors of Tan Cang Giao Long Joint
stock Company

»  Chairman of the Board of Directors of Giao Long Paper Joint Stock
Company

Work history

1986 — 1999: Deputy Head of Planning and Technical Department of Construction and Building Materials Company

2003 - 2012: Head of Administration Department - District 2 Housing Management and Development Company

2012 — 2014: Deputy General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2014 - 2017: Board of Directors’ members cum Deputy General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2017 —2020: : Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, Deputy General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2020 - Present: Chairman of the Board of Directors, Deputy General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

«  Date of birth: 20/11/1964

- Qualification: Bachelor of Economics
Mr. Le Ba Phuong .
Vice Chairman of the BOD,
General Director

Current Position: Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, General
Director

«  Number of shares held personally: 7,515,008 shares, equivalent to 9.34%
of the Charter capital

+  Position in other companies/organizations:

»  Chairman of Ben Tre Packaging One Member Company Limited

»  Member of the Board of Directors of Thu Duc Steel Joint Stock
Company

»  Member of the Board of Directors of Giao Long Paper Joint Stock
Company

Work history

1987 — 2012: Worked at Bentre Aquaproduct Import And Export Joint Stock Company

2012 - 2013: Board of Directors’ members cum Deputy General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2013 — 2014: Board of Directors’ members cum General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2014 - 2020: Chairman of the Board of Directors cum General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2020 - Present: Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors cum General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

@ Operational situation during the year




2= ORGANIZATION AND PERSONNEL (conmu:o)
—

Board of Directors (continued)

Curriculum Vitae of Member of the Board of Directors (continued)

( «  Date of birth: 27/11/1963
« Qualification: Bachelor

Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia

Current Position: Member of the Board of Directors
Member of the BOD

Number of shares held personally: 1,766,800 shares, equivalent to
2.195% of the charter capital

Position in other companies/organizations:

»  Chairman of Dai Thien Loc Steel One Member Limited Company
»  Chairman of the Board of Directors of Dai Thien Loc Corporation

»  Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Giao Long Paper Joint
Stock Company

»  General Director of Giao Long Paper Joint Stock Company

Work history

1993 - 2001: Deputy Head, Head of Department of Ho Chi Minh City Seafood Import-Export Company

2001 - 2007: Chairman of the Member Council cum Director of Dai Thien Loc Steel Company Limited

2007 - 2020: Chairman of the Board of Directors of Dai Thien Loc Corporation

2012 - 2013: Board of Directors’ members of Bentre Aquaproduct Import And Export Joint Stock Company

2012 - 2017: Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2020 - 2022: Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Dai Thien Loc Corporation

2022 - Present: Chairman of the Board of Directors of Dai Thien Loc Corporation

2017 - Present: Member of the Board of Directors of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

@ Operational situation during the year
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Board of Directors (continueq)

Curriculum Vitae of Member of the Board of Directors (continued)

- Date of birth: 11/12/1978

- Qualification: Bachelor
Mr. Marco Martinelli .

CGurrent Position: Member of the Board of Directors
Member of the BOD

«  Number of shares held personally: 186,875 shares, equivalent to 0.23%
of charter capital

«  Position in other companies/organizations:

» Member of the Board of Directors of Turicum Invesment
Manegement AG

»  Member of the Board of Directors of Tim Vietnam JSC.

»  Member of the Board of Director, of Giao Long Paper Joint Stock
Company

Work history

1998 — 1999: Staff at Credit Suisse Bank, Switzerland

2000 - 2007: Asset Manager at Turicum Investment Management AG

2007 — 2013: Fund Manager at T.I.M Vietnam Tiger Fund

2013 - 2016: Investment Portfolio Manager at Daragon Capital Group

2016 — 2018: Director at Turicum Investment Management AG

2020 - Present: Board of Directors’ members at Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

- Date of hirth: 03/02/1989

+ Qualification: Bachelor’s degree
Mr. Duong Thanh Cong

«  Current Position: Member of the Board of Directors
Member of the BOD

+ Number of shares held personally: 1,454,250 shares, equivalent to
1.81% of charter capital

+  Position in other companies/organizations:

»  Chairman of the Board of Directors, General Director of Thanh
Cong Energy Service Joint Stock Company

»  Deputy General Director of Thuan Hai Corporation

Work history

2017 - Present: Deputy General Director of Thuan Hai Corporation

2017 - 2024: Chairman of the Board of Directors, Deputy General Director of Thanh Cong Energy Service Joint Stock Company

2024 - present: Chairman of the Board of Directors, General Director of Thanh Cong Energy Service Joint Stock Company

2023 - Present: Member of the Board of Directors at Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

@ Operational situation during the year




4’ ORGANIZATION AND PERSONNEL (conmmueo)
—

Board of Supervisors

List of Member of the Board of Supervisors

Number of shares (as of March 10, 2025)

Member of the Board of - Individual Representative
No. Sunervisors Position
P %/ %/
Quantity Charter Quantity Charter
capital capital
1 Ms. Doan Thi Bich Thuy Head of the Board of Supervisors 22,252 0.03% - -
2 Ms. Doan Hong Lan Member of the Board of Supervisors 460 0.0006% - -
5 Mr. Nguyen Quoc Binh Member of the Board of Supervisors 900,348 1.12% - -

In 2024, the Company had no changes in the Board of Supervisors.

+  Date of birth: 11/05/1985
+ Qualification: Bachelor of Accounting

Ms. Doan Thi Bich Thuy «  Current Position: Head of the Board of Supervisors
Head of the BOS

«  Number of shares held personally: 22,252 shares, equivalent to 0.03%
of charter capital

- Position in other companies/organizations: Head of Internal Audit Board
at Dai Thien Loc Corporation

Work history

2005 - 2007: Accountant at Dai Thien Loc Steel One Member Limited Company

2007 - 2011: Accountant at Dai Thien Loc Corporation

2011 — 2018: Head of the Board of Supervisors at Dai Thien Loc Corporation

2017 — Present: Head of the Board of Supervisors at Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2018 — Present: Head of Internal Audit Board at Dai Thien Loc Corporation
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Board of Supervisors (continued
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Curriculum Vitae of Member of the Board of Supervisors

+  Date of hirth: 17/04/1986
- Qualification: Bachelor of Business Administration

Ms. Doan Hong Lan - Current Position: Member of the Board of Supervisors
Member of the BOS

* Number of shares held personally: 460 shares, equivalent to 0.0006%
of charter capital

- Position in other companies/organizations: None

Work history

2006 - 2009: Staff in the Business Planning Department of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2009 - Present: Human Resources Management Staff at Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2012 - Present: Member of the Board of Supervisors at Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

- Date of hirth: 26/05/1977
- Qualification: Bachelor of Economics

Mr. Nguyen Quoc Binh +  Current Position: Member of the Board of Supervisors
- Member of the BOS
Mg +  Number of shares held personally: 900,348 shares, equivalent to 1.12%

of charter capital

- Position in other companies/organizations: None

Work history

01/2007 - 09/2007: Analyst at Viet Phat Investment CompanyCéng

09/2007 — 2018: Senior Investment Specialist at SSI Fund Management Co., Ltd.Cong

06/2016 — 2018: Member of the Board of Supervisors of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

06/2022 - Present: Member of the Board of Supervisors of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre
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Board of Management

List of Board of Management

Number of shares (as of March 10, 2025)

Members of Board of - Individual Representative
No. Management Position
%/ %/
Quantity Charter Quantity Charter
capital capital
1 Mr. Le Ba Phuong Vice Chairman of the Board, General Director 7,515,008 9.34% - -

2 Mr. Luong Van Thanh Chairman of the Board, Deputy General Director 3,041,917 3.78% - -

3 Ms. Ho Thi Song Ngoc  Deputy General Director 103,511 0.13% - -

4 Ms. Nguyen Hong Thanh Chief Accountant - - - -

In 2024, there were no changes in the Company’s Board of Management.

Curriculum Vitae of Members of Board of Management

For the Curriculum Vitae of Mr. Luong Van Thanh and Mr. Le Ba Phuong, please refer to the resumes of the Board of Directors’

I

members section.
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Board of Management (continuec)

ll

Curriculum Vitae of Members of Board of Management (continued)

- Date of birth: 11/02/1983

- Qualification: Bachelor of Economics
Ms. Ho Thi Song Ngoc .

Current Position: Deputy General Director
Deputy General Director

*  Number of shares held personally: 103,511 shares, equivalent to 0.13%
of charter capital

«  Position in other companies/organizations: Director of Bentre Packaging
One Member Limited Company

Work history

2005 - 2008: Order receiving and implementation staff under the KHKD-CL Department of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of
Bentre

2008 — 2010: Deputy Business Director — Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2010 - 2012: Business Director — Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2010 - 2017: Board of Directors’ members cum Deputy General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

2017 - Present: Deputy General Director of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

04/2020 - Present: Director of Bentre Packaging One Member Limited Company

- Date of bhirth: 06/01/1986

+ (Qualification: Bachelor of Economics
Ms. Nguyen Hong Thanh .

Current Position: Chief Accountant
Chief Accountant

*  Number of shares held personally: None

+ Position in other companies/organizations: Head of the Board of
Supervisors of Tan Cang Giao Long Joint stock Company

Work history

07/2011 — 09/2014: Payment Accountant of Saigon Ship Repair and Shipbuilding One Member Limited Company

02/2014 - 09/2015: Accountant of Allergan Singapore PTE LTD Representative Office in Ho Chi Minh City

04/2017 — 08/2018: General Accountant of Sanh Dieu Distribution Company Limited

09/2018 — 03/2020: General Accountant of Marou Chocolate Company Limited

12/2021 — 12/2023: General Accountant of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

01/2023 - Present: Chief Accountant of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre

04/2023 - Present: Head of the Board of Supervisors of Tan Cang Giao Long Joint stock Company
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Number of officers and employees

As of December 31,2024

Year 2024
Items

Quantity (person) Proportion
By labor qualification 551 100.00%
Above University 1 0.18%
University, College 188 34.12%
Intermediate 42 7.62%
Elementary and Technical Workers 16 2.90%
Unskilled workers 304 55.17%
By nature of labor contract 551 100.00%
Short-term contract under 1 year 2 0.36%
Fixed-term contract 174 31.58%
Unspecified-term contract 375 68.06%
By gender 551 100.00%
Male 499 90.56%
Female 52 9.44%

Average income
Items Year 2023 Year 2024
Total number of employees 564 551
Average income of employees (VND/person/month) 11,664,553 12,224,976
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Policies for employees

Salaries, bonuses and benefits

The Company always fully complies with the provisions
of law on the rights of employees, and at the same time
implements many special incentive policies to encourage
and recognize outstanding contributions. Specifically,
the Company periodically and extraordinarily rewards
individuals and collectives with excellent achievements
or breakthrough ideas, creating motivation to promote
creativity and work efficiency. In addition, the Company
periodically organizes health check-ups for allemployees,

helping to detect early and promptly support cases with

health problems caused by the working environment.

Recruitment Policy

The Company’s recruitment policy aims to ensure a fair and
transparent process. The objective is to recruit based on
qualifications and experience that align with each specific
position. Each position will have clearly defined recruitment

criteria to identify the best candidates for the Company.

Training

The Company always values training and improving skills for
employees, as it is an important factor to ensure the Company’s
operations are run effectively and safely. Every year, the Company
organizes training and retraining courses on Occupational
Safety and Health, overhead crane operation, forklift operation,
ISO training, 58S, first aid, and fire prevention and fighting drills.
This is how the Company helps employees stay updated and
master the latest skills, meet the requirements of the job, and
ensure safety in the workplace. The Company is committed to
investing heavily in employee training and development to build

a professional, dynamic, and innovative workforce, contributing

to improving the Company’s competitiveness.
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Policies for employees (continued)

Working environment

HAD MUWG KV MIEM 95 NAM HGAY THANH LAP COMG DOAN \nh MAM [20/7/1029 - 28/7/2026), THANG COMG s Lasaeh

The Company arranges reasonable working hours, ensures

employees’ rights regarding salaries, bonuses, and social '.E KHA' I‘IAC

policies, with the goal of building a healthy, friendly, and ONG DOA“ EE" TRE Hﬁ“ﬂ"Oﬂ "n“ 2024
Budc chay,-IVis < khd'. doan|vién, ngudi/lao déng
B~ _-fre,ngor- - “dng 4 nGm 2024 c 3

professional working environment, like a second home
for its employees. In particular, the Company regularly
organizes recreational and team-building activities as
a spiritual gift to help employees relieve stress and
strengthen their connection with the Company.

Labor protection safety policy " L ‘3 _—
CONG DOAN BEN TRE MARATHON NAM 2024

Bu‘d‘: chay - Vi stfe khde doan vién, ngudi loo déng

The Company not only focuses on investing in training . -"!—_E E et & e ] w
and enhancing skills for employees but also prioritizes ' i '

ensuring the safety and health of employees during their
work. To ensure employee safety, the Company has
provided uniforms and protective equipment appropriate
to each job position. Uniforms and protective equipment
help employees ensure safety and professionalism at
work. In addition, the Company organizes training courses
on occupational safety and hygiene, first aid, and fire
prevention drills for employees. These training courses
help employees raise their awareness of occupational
safety, know how to respond in emergency situations,
and ensure safety for themselves, their colleagues, and
the Company. The Company is committed to continuing
to invest in activities that ensure the safety and health of
employees, aiming to build a safe and healthy working
environment, contributing to improving labor productivity

and business efficiency.
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Major investments
Company’s subsidiaries

Ben Tre Packaging One Member Company Limited: In 2024, the Company’s subsidiaries produced and sold 118.8% of the
set plan. Total revenue for the year was over VND 330 billion, an increase of 40% compared to the results achieved in
2023. Machinery operates stably, and labor productivity increases. The company has strengthened market development and

sought more new customers for the company.

Giao Long Paper Joint Stock Company:

* On October 3, 2024, the Company was granted Investment Policy Decision No. 2348/QD-UBND to build a paper mill with
a capacity of 1,000 tons/day.

+  The company is continuing to complete legal documents and work with suppliers to implement the Project according to

the set plan.

Affiliated company

Tan Cang Giao Long Joint stock Gompany: Total revenue in 2024 reached over VND 69 billion, reaching 113% compared to the
results of 2023. The company continues to promote market development in Ben Tre as well as the Mekong Delta provinces,
constantly seeking new customers and promoting resources in business. In 2024, costs were tightly controlled, contributing

to improving production and business efficiency as well as profits.

Operational situation during the year
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Financial situation

FINANCIAL SITUATION

Unit: VND
Indicator Year 2023 Year 2024 % 2024/2023
Total asset value 2,915,097,525,252 3,244,657,641,103 111.31%
Net revenue 3,258,908,541,602 3,596,507,144,729 110.36%
Profit from business activities 350,550,348,467 271,089,341,970 77.33%
Other profit 7,547,705,822 8,133,459,023 107.76%
Profit before tax 358,098,054,289 279,222,800,993 77.97%
Profit after tax 309,338,388,739 242,196,652,212 78.30%
Dividend payout Percentage 20% Expected 30% -

4,000,000,000,000
3,500,000,000,000
3,000,000,000,000
2,500,000,000,000
2,000,000,000,000
1,500,000,000,000
1,000,000,000,000

500,000,000,000

Financial Status Chart (VND)

Total asset Net revenue Profit from Other profit Profit before Profit after

value

business
activities

tax

tax

= Year 2023 Year 2024
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Key financial indicators

Indicators Unit 2023 2024
Solvency target
Current ratio Times 1.68 1.77
Quick ratio Times 1.21 1.34
Capital structure target
Debt/total assets ratio % 36.47% 38.27%
Debt/equity ratio % 57.41% 61.98%

Operating capacity expenditure

Inventory turnover (Cost of goods sold/Average inventory) Times 4.86 6.16

Net revenue/Average total assets Times 1.12 1.17

Profitability target

Profit after tax/Net revenue ratio % 9.49% 6.73%
Profit after tax/Equity ratio % 16.70% 12.09%
Profit after tax/Total assets ratio % 10.61% 7.46%
Profit from business operations/Net revenue ratio % 10.76% 7.54%
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Key financial indicators (continued)

Solvency indicators

In 2024, the Company’s solvency showed a marked improvement. Specifically, the current ratio increased from 1.68 times in
20283 to 1.77 times, while the quick ratio also improved from 1.21 times to 1.34 times. Although current liabilities increased
from VND 1,062 billion to VND 1,236 billion, equivalent to an increase of 16.34%, current assets had a superior growth rate,
incease 22.45%. This shows that the Company’s short-term solvency has improved significantly this year. In particular, cash
and cash equivalents increased sharply from VND 247.2 billion to VND 570.8 billion, reflecting the proactiveness in optimizing
liquidity, ensuring timely payment ability and minimizing financial risks. This not only helps Dong Hai maintain flexibility
in financial operations but also creates conditions to take advantage of effective investment opportunities. In addition,
investments held to maturity not exceeding 1 year increased by VND 233 billion, from VND 101.1 billion at the end of 2023,
as the Company proactively shifted a portion of its assets to short-term financial investments, in order to optimize short-term
profits and maintain high liquidity, thereby helping the Company minimize financial costs and take advantage of profitable

investment opportunities in the current market conditions.

Favorable payment indicators help Dong Hai fully and promptly meet its short-term financial obligations, including payments
to suppliers and sellers. This not only strengthens relationships with partners but also ensures financial stability, creating a

solid foundation for future development plans.

Solvency target

1.77

1.8 1.68

1.6

14 1.34
1.21

1.2
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Current ratio Quick ratio
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Key financial indicators (continued)

Capital structure indicators

In 2024, the debt/total assets ratio increased from 36.47% to 38.27%, while the debt/equity ratio increased from 57.41% to
61.98%. Although the debt ratio increased slightly, the Company still maintains a safe financial structure with stable solvency
and capital efficiency. This increase reflects the strategy of mobilizing debt to finance production activities and expand the

scale, in accordance with reasonable interest rates and growth needs due to the recovery of the paper industry.

In which, the Company'’s total liabilities increased from VND 1,063 billion to VND 1,242 billion, equivalent to an increase of
16.78% compared to 2023, mainly due to changes in current liabilities, from VND 1,062 billion to VND 1,236 billion, equivalent
to an increase of 16.34%. The increase in current liabilities is mainly to meet short-term liquidity needs and serve production
and business activities. At the same time, the Company took advantage of low interest rates in 2024 to increase short-term

financial loans, helping to reduce financial costs and increase flexibility in raising capital.

For equity, the Company recorded growth from VND 1,851 billion to VND 2,003 billion, thanks to the increase in undistributed
profits and development investment fund. This not only demonstrates the Company’s financial stability but also reflects the
strategy of reinvesting profits to serve long-term development goals, especially expansion projects such as the New Paper
Factory Project, with the goal of doubling production capacity by 2028. Overall, this capital structure adjustment is consistent
with the Company’s development strategy, helping to optimize finances and prepare for important investment projects in the

future.

Capital structure target
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61.98%
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Key financial indicators (continued)

Operational capacity target

In 2024, the Company significantly improved its asset utilization efficiency indicators, as demonstrated by the growth in
inventory turnover and asset turnover. Specifically, inventory turnover increased from 4.86 times in 2023 to 6.16 times in
2024, reflecting a marked improvement in inventory management and utilization. This increase indicates that the Company
has optimized the consumption and use of raw materials, especially in the context of rising raw material prices such as OCC
waste paper, helping to minimize storage costs and optimize cash flow. Although OCC prices tended to increase during the
year, the Company implemented more effective raw material reserve strategies, keeping inventory at a reasonable level to

serve production operations, while minimizing waste and costs associated with warehousing.

In parallel, asset turnover also recorded a slight improvement from 1.12 times to 1.17 times, the Company used assets more
efficiently in generating revenue, while optimizing the exploitation and use of existing assets. Although the Company’s total
assets did not increase sharply, net revenue increased from VND 3,258.90 billion to VND 3,596.51 billion, which shows that
the Company has made the most of its existing assets to promote production and business. Improving asset turnover also
reflects the strategy of optimizing production processes, minimizing resource waste and improving the efficiency of fixed
assets in production. This improvement not only helps the Company grow sustainably but also creates a solid foundation for

continued development and enhanced competitiveness in the paper industry.

Operating capacity expenditure

6.16

4.86

Inventory tumover (Cost of goods Net revenue/ Average total assets
sold/ Average inventory)

m2023 2024
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Key financial indicators (continued)

Profitability targets

In 2024, the Company’s profitability indicators recorded a clear change. Specifically, the ratio of profit after tax/net revenue
decreased from 9.49% to 6.73%; the ratio of profit after tax/equity decreased from 16.70% to 12.09%; the ratio of profit after
tax/total assets decreased from 10.61% to 7.46%; and the ratio of profit from production and business activities/net revenue
decreased from 10.76% to 7.54%. These indicators reflect a decline in the Company’s profit margin, due to negative factors
in 2024.

One of the important factors affecting the Company’s business results is the increase in input material prices, especially the
price of OCC waste paper. In the context of a sharp increase in the price of OCC and other input materials, the Company’s
production costs also increased. Although Donghai has applied reasonable reserve strategies to minimize the impact of rising
material prices, this increase has directly affected DHC’s profit margin.

In addition, the export market situation, especially in the Chinese market, also has a major impact on the Company’s business
performance. Although export markets are showing signs of recovery, competition in the carton packaging and industrial
paper industry is increasing. The company has actively adjusted its export strategy and increased exports to markets other
than China, while promoting the domestic market to maintain revenue. DHC’s carton packaging and industrial paper segment
has faced fierce competition, but the Company has promptly adjusted production processes, reduced operating costs and

improved product quality to meet customer needs.

Profitability target
0.18 16.70%
0.16
0.14
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0.12 10.61% 10.76%
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0.02
0

Profit after tax/Net revenue  Profit after tax/ Equityratio Profit after tax/ Total assets Profit from business
ratio ratio operations/ Net revenue ratio
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Information about Stocks

Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre officially listed and traded shares on the Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange (HOSE)
with the stock code: DHC

......
...........

Dl S, Stock type: Common stock

Total issued shares: 880,493,048 shares
80,493,048

Total
outstanding shares

Total outstanding shares: 80,493,048 shares

Number of treasury shares: None

UNELTTIIT stock par value: 10,000 VND/Share

.
oooooo

Number of freely transferable shares: None

Number of shares with restricted transfer: None

Status of changes in owner’s investment capital

Year Owner's investment capital (VND)
2017 344,597,690,000
2018 413,515,490,000
2019 559,957,830,000
2020 559,957,830,000
2021 699,944,230,000
2023 804,930,480,000

In 2024, the Company had no changes in owner’s investment capital (charter capital).

i K
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Shareholders structure
As of March 10, 2025

Ownership
. Number of Number of Percentage/
No. Object shareholders shares Face value (VND) Charter
capital (%)
1 State shareholders - - - -
Maj harehold i 5% f
y Maior shareholders (owning 5% or more o 3 25089,944 250,899,440,000 31.17%
share capital)
- Organization 1 11,885,488 118,854,880,000 14.77%
- Individual 2 13,204,456 132,044,560,000 16.40%
Il Company union - - - -
IV Treasury shares - - - -
V  Shareholders owning pre-ferred shares (if any) - - - -
VI Other shareholders 5,485 55,403,104 554,031,040,000 68.83%
1 - Organization 79 20,536,256 205,362,560,000 25.51%
2 - Individual 5,406 34,866,848 348,668,480,000 43.32%
TOTAL(I+ 1+ + 1V +V +VI) 5,488 80,493,048 804,930,480,000 100,00%
Of which: - Domestic 5,337 49,051,752  490,517,520,000 60,94%
- Foreign 151 31,441,296  314,412,960,000 39,06%
Maximum foreign ownership ratio: 50%
List of major shareholders
As of March 10, 2025
No. Name Number of shares Ownership Pel:centage / Charter
capital (%)
1 Le Ba Phuong 7,515,008 9.34%
2 Nguyen Thi Thuy 5,689,448 7.07%
3 KWE BETEILIGUNGEN AG 11,885,488 14.77%
TOTAL 25,089,944 31.17%
Treasury share transactions Other securities
No occurrence in 2024 No occurrence in 2024
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Impact on the environment

In the context of growing concerns about environmental protection, businesses in the paper industry face major challenges
in minimizing negative impacts on nature and surrounding communities. With large-scale production, the Company not
only shifts towards more sustainable production methods but also pays special attention to building and implementing
effective environmental incident prevention and response measures. The company has signed contracts for waste and waste
treatment with third parties specializing in the treatment of domestic waste such as Ben Tre Urban Works Joint Stock
Company, a unit that collects hazardous waste such as Chan Ly Environment Co., Ltd.,... At the same time, the Company
has built a wastewater treatment system with a designed capacity of 4,900 m®/day and night.

To continue the efforts that have been made, the Company pays special attention to building and implementing effective
environmental incident prevention and response measures. This is not only necessary to ensure environmental safety in
increasingly improved production conditions but also an important factor in enhancing the credibility and social responsibility
of the business. The implementation of specific and timely incident prevention strategies will help minimize potential risks

that may arise, and at the same time, build response plans that are ready to operate effectively in the event of emergencies.

Specifically, the Company has prepared an environmental incident response plan in accordance with the regulations in
Decree 08/2022/ND-CP and sent it to the Management Board of Industrial Zones of Ben Tre province.

For fire and explosion incidents

The company has implemented fire prevention and fighting (“PCCC”) measures in accordance with the law and in
compliance with TCVN 2622-1995, TCVN 5760-1993, TCVN 5738-1993 standards. The fire protection system includes
CO2 gas cylinders and dry powder fire extinguishers located in areas with fire and explosion risks. In addition, the
factory is also equipped with cabinets containing fire fighting equipment and a fire alarm system in production areas

and warehouses, along with a 2,500m?® water tank that has also been built to serve fire fighting.

To improve response capacity, the company has established a specialized
fire protection team and a grassroots fire protection team, providing regular
training and drills, along with organizing annual fire protection drills. Other
safety measures include banning smoking and carrying lighters in the
factory area, and all external contractors must sign a commitment to safety
regulations when working at the company. In the event of a fire or explosion,

the company has a tiered response plan based on the level of danger of the

incident, combined with coordination with local fire protection forces and

companies in the industrial park for effective handling.
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Impact on the environment (continued)

For the lightning protection system

A lightning protection system has been installed at high locations in the factory area to ensure the safety of production
operations. This system includes lightning rods and electrostatic collectors, along with the application of new
technologies in improving the lightning protection system. The grounding resistance of the system is designed to
match the soil resistivity, ensuring an impulse resistance below 10Q2 when the soil resistance is below 50,000 Q/
cm?2 and above 100 when the soil resistivity exceeds 50,000 Q/cm?. The lightning protection system positions high
poles from 10 - 14 meters to provide comprehensive protection for the factory. In addition, the system is periodically
inspected annually by a qualified unit to ensure efficient and safe operation, especially in rainy and stormy conditions.

Regarding the prevention of raw material and fuel leaks

To ensure the safe and efficient operation of raw material storage facilities and transportation vehicles, the company
has implemented detailed measures to prevent raw material and fuel leaks as follows:

« Regularly inspect technical systems at storage facilities and transportation vehicles.

«  Ensure that the raw material and product storage system complies with Vietnamese stand-ards for engineering and

safety.
« Implement strict technical and safety regulations during fuel import and export processes.

+ In the event of a leak, quickly identify the cause and location, suspend related operations, and report to functional

units for remediation.
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Impact on the environment (continued)

Chemical incident prevention and response measures

To minimize and effectively handle chemical spill or leakage incidents, the company has implemented a series of

specific chemical incident prevention and response measures:

Arrange chemicals neatly, ensure
packaging is sealed, and do not stack

too high.

+  Periodically check the condition of

chemicals in the warehouse.

+ Inspect packaging and chemical
drums during the import process to

prevent leaks.

Use non-sparking equipment and

good ventilation in the chemical

storage warehouse.

Environmental incident prevention and response measures for cases where the
wastewater treatment system (WWTS) operates ineffectively

To address situations where the wastewater treatment system is not effective, the company has designed and
implemented the following prevention and response measures to ensure that the wastewater treatment process is

always maintained at an optimal level:

+  Design the wastewater treatment system for the highest flow rate.

*  Monitor and periodically inspect the quality of influent and effluent wastewater.

»  Prepare a separate rainwater drainage system to prevent flow increases due to heavy rain.

* Regularly inspect and maintain machinery and treatment tanks.

+  Operate the system according to the correct procedures, and maintain equipment regularly.

- Train operating staff on system operating procedures and safety.

«  Store wastewater in the incident tank and reduce production output if the treatment system is not effective.
+ Regularly clean pipelines and check water levels in storage tanks.

»  Prepare backup power equipment and arrange monitoring personnel to ensure stable system operation.

+ If the entire system fails, store wastewater in the incident pond and report to the competent authority for remedial
guidance.
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Management of raw material sources

Managing raw material sources is an important activity for all businesses, especially paper manufacturing businesses. The
Company’s main production material is waste paper, which is used old carton paper imported from the United States,
Europe, Japan, or collected domestically. Utilizing and recycling used waste is an important activity that contributes to the
Company’s environmental protection. When waste is recycled, it will be used to create new products, replacing the use
of new materials. This helps minimize the amount of waste that must be landfilled or incinerated, while also reducing the

exploitation of natural resources.

Energy consumption

In Vietnam, energy consumption in the paper manufacturing
industry is still quite high. According to statistics from the
Vietnam Pulp and Paper Association (VPPA), energy costs in
paper and pulp production account for 20-30% of production
costs. Therefore, minimizing energy consumption is one of
the important issues for paper manufacturing enterprises in
Vietnam. The company’s total electricity consumption in 2024
is 133,222,467 Kwh. For Donghai Joint Stock Company Of
Bentre, the Solar Power project was officially put into operation
in 2024. Donghai hopes that this project will contribute to saving
electricity, meeting green production criteria, protecting the
green - clean - beautiful environment and responding to climate
change, and keeping up with the trend of using clean energy -
renewable energy globally today.

Water consumption

Water is one of the important factors in the paper production
process, so the Company always pays attention to the use and
protection of water resources. In 2024, the company’s total
water consumption was 1,779,054 m3. DHC has invested in
a closed, modern wastewater recycling system, ensuring the
treatment of all wastewater generated during the production
process. This system has been assessed to meet standards for
post-treatment wastewater quality. In addition, the Company
also proactively inspects the water system regularly to detect
and promptly fix water leakage incidents. As a result, the
Company has significantly reduced the amount of water lost.
The Company’s efforts in using and protecting water resources

have contributed to minimizing environmental pollution,

protecting community health and sustainable developm%

\4_2/ Operational situation during the year
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4] Compliance with environmental protection laws

Over the past year, the Company has always complied well with environmental protection laws. In addition to good
compliance, the Company also invests in a wastewater treatment system and ensures continuous operation to ensure the
living environment and surrounding landscape. Periodically, the Company also coordinates with functional agencies to take

wastewater treatment samples in order to be able to check, evaluate and handle promptly If any unwanted incidents occur.

1«4} Policies related to employees

For DHC, human resources are one of the key factors of production and business activities. Therefore, the Board of Directors
and the Board of Management, always coordinate with the union to perform well the function of representing and protecting
the legitimate rights and interests of employees. At the same time, take care of spiritual and material life, build salary and bonus
policies, and labor protection in accordance with the law. Specifically, the Human Resources Administration Department and
the Trade Union promptly support difficult circumstances, subsidize “Donghai Homes”, and give Lunar New Year gifts to all

company employees,... with a total amount of over 2.2 billion VND.




L —4 . REPORT ON THE COMPANY'’S
= ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS (conmuen

1«4} Report on responsibility to the local community

In 2024, the Company demonstrated its responsibility to the local community through activities such as spending money
to support people affected after the Yagi storm, providing support to difficult circumstances in the commune, supporting

communes at the end of the year, and supporting costs to organize the province’s investment promotion conference, with a

total amount of over 700 million VND.
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General Situation

Vietnam’s paper industry in 2024 faced numerous difficulties due to the impact of the global economic and political situation.
The prices of input materials such as pulp and recycled waste paper increased, raising production costs. Market demand
was also unstable, especially a sharp decline in exports, with the Chinese market recording a decrease in both volume and
selling price for industrial paper products. At the same time, although investment in the paper and carton packaging industry
continued to increase, this led to increasingly fierce competition, as excess production capacity further increased pressure
on businesses in the industry.

In that context, Dong Hai continued to maintain stability and achieve positive results. The company’s net revenue reached
3,596.5 billion VND, exceeding the plan by 9.68% and growing by 10.40% compared to 2023. This not only reflects the
company’s flexible and effective business strategy, but also demonstrates its ability to respond to market fluctuations.

For the paper industry, despite facing major difficulties from the global market, in which OCC raw material prices increased by
15% and selling prices only increased by about 7%, the Company still completed its sales plan and maintained a reasonable
inventory level. In addition, the 9.5% increase in electricity prices also led to an increase in production costs, putting pressure
on the Company’s profits. However, Dong Hai has demonstrated effective cost management and supply coordination
capabilities, allowing the company to maintain its market share in the context of excess capacity and strong competition
from new paper mills. Stabilizing product quality and the ability to control costs are key factors helping the company maintain

its position in the market, despite unfavorable factors from the raw material market and production costs.

For the packaging industry, while the domestic carton packaging industry recorded a growth rate of about 10%, Dong Hai
surpassed the general growth rate with a packaging sales revenue growth rate of 12.9%. This growth is not only thanks to the
strategy of diversifying industries, including the fields of seafood, food, consumer goods, agricultural products and electronic
components, but also due to proactively grasping the trend of sustainable development and using recycled products. In the
context of increasing demand for environmentally friendly packaging, Dong Hai has maximized development opportunities in
the packaging industry, helping to strengthen its position and increase competitiveness.
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Financial situation

Unit: VND
Proportion Proportion 0
Target Year 2023 2023 Year 2024 2024 %2024/2023
Current assets 1,785,334,756,725 61.24% 2,186,220,726,161 67.38% 122.45%
Non - current assets 1,129,762,768,527 38.76% 1,058,436,914,942 32.62% 93.69%
Total assets 2,915,097,525,252 100.00% 3,244,657,641,103 100.00% 111.31%
As of December 31, 2024, total assets reached VND 3,245 billion, an Proportion 2023

increase of 11.31% compared to the same period in 2023, mainly due
to a strong increase in current assets, accounting for 67.38% of total
assets, up from 61.24% in 2023. Two notable items in current assets are

cash and cash equivalents and short-term financial investments.

Cash and cash equivalents increased sharply from VND 247 billion to

VND 571 billion, an increase of 122.45%. The increase in liquid cash

helps the company flexibly cope with market fluctuations, such as
changes in OCC raw material costs and the USD/VND exchange rate,
while preparing financially for major projects in the future such as the
= Current assets Non - current assets
Giao Long 3 factory, which is expected to start construction in 2025.
Thi t onl th ital but also hel timi .
is not only ensures the necessary capital but also helps optimize Proportion 2024
interest costs and minimize dependence on debt.
At the same time, short-term financial investments increased from
VND 101 billion to VND 334 billion in 2024, an increase of 231.68%.
These investments help the company maintain rapid liquidity and take
advantage of opportunities from flexible financial instruments such as

term deposits and bonds with terms of less than 1 year. Furthermore,

increasing these investments also helps the Company minimize risks from
exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations, while preparing financially
for future expansion projects, especially the New Paper Factory Project. . Current assets  Non - current assets

Although non - current assets in 2024 decreased slightly from VND 1,130 billion to VND 1,058 billion, accounting for
32.62% of total assets, this does not reflect a decline in the Company’s production capacity or development strategy.
In fact, this decrease is mainly due to the reduction in the value of fixed assets as the company did not invest heavily
in new assets, while maintaining high operating capacity from existing factories, which is appropriate in the context of

oversupply in the paper industry and gradually recovering paper demand.

@ Report and evaluation of the Board of Management
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Liabilities situation

FINANCIAL SITUATION (conrinueo)

Unit: VND
Proportion Proportion 0
Target Year 2023 2023 Year 2024 2024 %2024/2023
Current liabilities 1,062,496,403,155 99.93% 1,236,078,204,990 99.56% 116.34%
Non - current lia-bilities 696,922,421 0.07% 5,500,000,000 0.44% 789.18%
Total liabilities 1,063,193,325,576 100.00% 1,241,578,204,990 100.00% 116.78%

Proportion 2023

0.07%

= Current liabilities Non - current liabilities

Proportion 2024

0.44%

= Current liabilities Non - current liabilities

In 2024, DHC’s total liabilities reached VND 1,242 billion, an increase of
116.78% compared to 2023, in which short-term liabilities played a key
role with a value of VND 1,236 billion, accounting for a large proportion of
99.56%. The value of current liabilities increased by 16.34%, from VND
1,062 billion in 2023, reflecting the increasing need for working capital
to meet production activities and business expansion in the context of
the company taking advantage of opportunities from the recovery of the
packaging paper industry, especially the increase in export orders thanks
to the prosperity of industries such as textiles, garments, vegetables,
fruits and seafood. Maintaining a high proportion of current liabilities
shows that the company still prioritizes mobilizing fast and flexible capital
sources to finance regular production and business activities, in order to
meet constantly fluctuating demands from the market. In particular, short-
term accounts payable to sellers increased sharply by 34.52%, from VND
302.9 billion to VND 407.5 billion, the main reason for this increase came
from the strong recovery in production and business activities and higher
demand for input material reserves to meet the increasing orders of the
packaging paper industry, which requires the Company to increase the
purchase of OCC materials to maintain stable production and optimize
factory efficiency. In addition, the Company increased short-term loans by
VND 61 billion in 2024, but interest expenses were only VND 22.9 billion, a
sharp decrease of 31% compared to 2023, the Company effectively took

advantage of low interest rates to optimize financial costs, contributing to improving capital use efficiency and profits.

At the same time, non - current liabilities, although increasing sharply by 789.18% from VND 696 million to VND

5.5 billion, still accounts for a very small proportion, only 0.44% in the liability structure, reflecting DHC’s cautious

financial strategy when it does not depend much on long-term loans, while minimizing the pressure of high capital

costs when having to mobilize long-term capital. In the near future, especially when deploying the New Paper Factory

Project, Dong Hai will continue to adjust its debt structure in a direction suitable to the market context to ensure stable

resources, minimize liquidity risks, and effectively take advantage of sustainable growth opportunities in the medium

and long term

Report and evaluation of the Board of Management

)
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2= POLICIES, AND MANAGEMENT
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Progress achieved

In 2024, the Company’s Giao Long Paper product was awarded the
title “National Brand Product of 2024”. At the same time, the Company
was honored as a “Typical Enterprise” of Ben Tre province in 2024 by

the Chairman of the People’s Committee of Ben Tre province.

: e
During the year, the Company also made advancements in governance, ‘, 4'
technology, and social responsibility. In terms of governance, the i Vil

: Vietnam Value
Board of Directors complied with regulations, effectively performed : CHUONG TRINH

THUONG HIEU QUOC GIA VIET NAM
management tasks, and ensured transparent information disclosure.

The Company maintained and improved its management systems CHUNG NHAN
according to ISO and ESG standards, as well as invested in cﬁua 'I'Y cp
equipment. At the same time, the Company took care of employees’ nnuﬁ "ﬁl BE‘" .I.nE

welfare, fulfilled its social responsibilities, and implemented various i : :
. o : C6 san pham dat Thuong hiéu quéc gia Viet Nam
improvement initiatives. : Giai doan: 2024 - 2026 :
: Hi Nai, ngay 04 thang 11 nam 2024

CHU TICH HOI DONG

THUOMNEHIEU@UOC GIA VIET NAM
: L
Ta

T

80 TRUGNG BO CONG THUONG

GONE.TY GO | : Nguyé&n Hng Dién
DIONG HAI BE ¥
SAN PHAM BAT THUONG
COQUANCHU TR COQUAN THUC HIEN
BO CONG THUONG CUC XUC TIEN THUONG MAL

Improvements in organizational structure, policies, and management

Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre continuously strives to improve operational efficiency and sustainable development.
Over the past year, the Company has made significant improvements in organizational structure, policies and management:

Regarding corporate governance, Hthe Board of Directors continues to improve governance activities, enhance performance
evaluation of members, and seek a unit to implement accounting software according to international standards.

Regarding production and management, the Company reviews personnel to arrange appropriate jobs, develops and controls
consumption norms for raw materials, and strengthens inspection of fire prevention and fighting, labor safety, equips labor
protection, chemical safety and 5S hygiene.

Regarding business and market, the Company focuses on developing domestic and export markets, developing more large
customers, has effective sales and debt recovery policies, while grasping market information and strengthening supplier
evaluation.

Regarding investment and development, the Company invests in machinery and equipment, basic construction to expand
production and develop new products, seeks locations to relocate and invest in a new packaging factory, and develops a
succession personnel plan to ensure human resources for development plans.

@ Report and evaluation of the Board of Management




4=’ FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Unit of

Target measurement 2025 Plan
I. Total Revenue Billion VND 3,275
1. Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre Billion VND 2,925
+ Giao Long paper mill - PM1 Billion VND 522
+ Giao Long paper mill - PM2 Billion VND 2,048
+ Packaging Factory Billion VND 355
2. Ben Tre Packaging One Member Company Limited Billion VND 350
Il. Profit after tax billion VND 242

EXPLANATION OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
—— REGARDING THE AUDIT OPINION

The Board of management fully agrees with the results as well as the opinions of the Auditors. the General Director also

has no additional explanatory comments.

@ Report and evaluation of the Board of Management
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Assessment related to environmental indicators

The Board of Management appreciates o {:\ E :
the company’s significant efforts in % i e \(’3'\ % | @
fulfilling its environmental responsibilities. 5 G ; ‘;

The company has proactively shifted

to sustainable production methods. In ; . ; SNT—
particular, the company has developed a g e 2 i

detailed environmental incident response f g %

plan, including measures to prevent and é § i

respond to fires and explosions, fuel leaks, f ISO 9001:2015 f SO 14001:2015

chemical spills and wastewater treatment g’ EE

system incidents. In addition, the company’s E § =

use of the implementation of solar power E @@ g @g_

projects are important steps towards green

and sustainable production. The Company’s

continued maintenance of the environmental

quality management system according _ S A
to ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015, ISO - CHUNG GHE

45001:2018 and ISO 50001:2018 standards

also demonstrates a high commitment to

* ZERTIFIKAT = CERTIFICATE

CONG TY Gt PHAN DONG HAI BEM TRE
5 L g i B8 P, e T T e o s

A A

continuous management and improvement.

Overall, the company has performed well

in its environmental responsibilities, with ISO 45001:2018 ISO 50001:2018

highlights being investment in treatment

and incident response systems, along with

effective material and energy management.

ZERTIFIKAT = CERTIFICATE + ZERTIFIKAT » CERTIFICATE » ZERTIFIKAT « CERTIFICATE

ZERTIFIKAT = CERTIFICATE = ZERTIFIKAT « CERTIFICATE

Report and evaluation of the Board of Management
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Assessment of the enterprise’s responsibility to the local community

The Board of Directors remarked that the A \\\N&m

Company has successfully carried out ﬁ
activities related to social responsibility toward —
the local community. Charitable activities,
support and sponsorship for families in
difficulty not only help the Company create a
positive image but also share the difficulties

with them.

Assessment related to labor issues

The Board of Management recognizes that

activities related to labor policies have been
carried out well. The company has created safe
working conditions and a healthy environment
for workers and employees. We appreciate
the Company’s recruitment activities, ensuring
all necessary elements, and training and
supplementing knowledge for employees is
carried out on time. In addition, issues related
to benefits such as salary, bonus, welfare, labor
policies and health insurance are also highly

appreciated.

@ Report and evaluation of the Board of Management
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== ASSESSMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
== ON THE COMPANY’S OPERATIONS

d

Regarding the results of production and business activities

In 2024, the economic situation still faced many difficulties, and the global political situation had many instabilities,
affecting prices and transportation of goods. However, the Board of Directors and the collective of officials and
employees of Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre made efforts to overcome difficulties and strive to complete
the tasks. Specifically, the total revenue reached VND 3,596.5 billion, exceeding 109.68% of the plan and increasing
110.36% compared to 2023. Consolidated after-tax profit reached VND 242 billion, a decrease compared to 2023
(reaching VND 309 billion). The Board of Directors assesses that the Company has made efforts to maintain stability

and achieve positive results in the context of many market fluctuations and challenges.

Regarding environmental responsibility

Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre always complies well with the law on environmental protection. The company
has invested in and effectively operates a wastewater treatment system, ensuring the treatment of all wastewater
generated during the production process and meeting international standards. The company also implements measures
to prevent and respond to environmental incidents, manage raw material sources, and consume energy and water
efficiently. The Board of Directors assesses that the Company’s environmental activities are carried out effectively,

maintaining a green, clean, and beautiful environment.

Regarding responsibility to employees

Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre cares for and takes care of the lives of its employees, builds a safe and
healthy working environment, and ensures salary, bonus, welfare, and insurance regimes. The Board of Directors highly
appreciates the recruitment, training, and knowledge enhancement activities for employees, as well as policies related

to the rights of employees.

Regarding social responsibility to the local community

Donghai Joint Stock Company Of Bentre fulfills its social responsibility to the local community well. The company
carries out charitable activities, supporting and sponsoring families and organizations facing difficulties. The Board of

Directors appreciates these contributions of the Company.

Regarding corporate governance

The Board of Directors seriously performs corporate governance in accordance with current regulations, the company’s
charter and regulations. The members of the Board of Directors act for the benefit of the company and shareholders,
and make full and timely information disclosures. The company has established an internal audit committee to supervise

operations and ensure compliance.

@ Assessment by the BOD on the Company’s operations




wmm. ASSESSMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON

== THE OPERATIONS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

The Board of Directors ‘s supervision of the General Director’s management activities is a regular and continuous activity.
The Board of Directors focuses on supervising the compliance with the provisions of the Enterprise Law, the Company’s
Charter, and corporate governance regulations for the Board of Management’s management activities, and supervising the
plan targets set by the General Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of Directors. In 2024, the company’s operations

maintained stable development.

4==_ ORIENTATION PLANS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ll

The Board of Directors seriously performs corporate governance in accordance with the regulations on corporate
governance applicable to public companies, the com-pany’s charter and the company’s corporate governance
regulations. The members of the Board of Directors perform their duties and powers in accordance with the Charter and

the company’s corporate governance regulations, always acting for the benefit of the company and its shareholders.

The Board of Directors leads and oversees the activities of the Board of Manage-ment, creating the best possible
conditions for the Board of Management to perform its assigned tasks in accordance with the Resolutions of the General

Meeting of Shareholders and the Resolutions of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors will continue to improve corporate governance activities. Accordingly, the Board of Directors will
evaluate the performance of the Board of Directors members and the Board of Supervisors in a more rigorous manner,
in or-der to enhance the role and responsibilities of the members.

+  Continue to foster good relationships with investors and shareholders, ensuring the dis-closure of information as required.

Assessment by the BOD on the Company’s operations
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The Company has demonstrated a strong commitment to sustainable development through the comprehensive implementation
of ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) orientation to all employees. Detailed training and guidance programs have

been organized to raise awareness and promote ESG practices in all company activities.

In 2024, the Company took an important step in its journey to minimize environmental impact. Completing the greenhouse
gas report as required is not only a legal obligation, but also a foundation for the Company to deeply analyze and develop
effective emission reduction strategies. With investments in solar power projects with a total capacity of 3,373 kWp and
several other projects to be implemented in the near future, the Company is strongly transitioning to the use of renewable

energy, contributing to reducing carbon emissions and protecting valuable natural resources.

In addition, maintaining and achieving ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015, ISO 45001:2018 and ISO 50001:2018 certifications is
a testament to the Company’s commitment to complying with international standards for quality, environment, occupational
safety and energy management. These certifications not only improve operational efficiency, but also affirm the Company’s

responsibility to the community and society.

In 2025, the Board of Directors - Company Management will continue to have more practical plans and actions to move

towards the goal of sustainable development. Because for DHC, sustainable development is not only a goal, but also a

guideline for all of the Company’s activities.

Assessment by the BOD on the Company’s operations

®
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4. ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
—

Membership and structure of the Board of Directors

Date of commencement/ no longer a Member of
the Board of Directors

No.  Member of the Board of Directors Position
Date of appointment Date of dis-charge
1 Mr. Luong Van Thanh Chairman 21/06/2014 -
2 Mr. Le Ba Phuong Vice Chairman 05/03/2004 -
3 Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia Member 26/04/2012 -
4 Mr. Marco Martinelli Member 26/06/2020 -
5 Mr. Duong Thanh Cong Member 17/06/2022 -

Meetings of the Board of Directors

No. Membelr) i(::! :I::r:oard of Numb::t ::1 (l;::letings Attendance rate Iieasonts:l 10;1 :::i:;tending
1 Mr. Luong Van Thanh 12 12/12 -
2 Mr. Le Ba Phuong 12 12/12 -
3 Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia 12 12/12 -
4 Mr. Marco Martinelli 12 12/12 -
5 Mr. Duong Thanh Cong 12 12/12 -

Corporate governance




4’ ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continueo)
—

Resolutions/Decisions of the Board of Directors

No. Res_o!utlonsl Date Contents Ratio
Decisions No.
) - Approved the Business Performance Report for the 4th Quarter of 2023, o

01 01/NQ-HPQT 26/01/2024 the year 2023, and the targets for the 1st Quarter of 2024. 100%

02 02/NQ-HPQT 26/01/2024 Aapproved Proposal No.01/1'!'—HE?QT dateql January 2nd, 2024, regarding 100%
the proposed product wage unit price effective from January 1st, 2024.
- Approved the proposed bonus payment list for the Company’s Executive
Management o

03 03/NQ-HBQT  26/01/2024 Approved the proposed bonus payment list for the Board of Directors & 100%
the Board of Supervisors.

04  04/NQ-HPQT 12/03/2024 - Finalized the list of Shareholders for the 2024 Annual General Meeting of 100%
Shareholders.

05 05/NQ-HPQT 14/03/2024 Approved the plan for organizing the 2024 Annual General Meet-ing of 100%
Shareholders.
- Approved the short-term loan plan to supplement working capital

06 06/NQ-HBQT 29/03/2024 according to the 2024 business plan at Citibank Bank - Ho Chi Minh City 100%
Branch

07  07/NQ-HPQT 29/03/2024 - Approved the contents to be presented at the 2024 Annual Gen-eral 100%
Meeting of Shareholders.

08  08/NQ-HPQT 29/03/2024 - 'Approved the remuneration Ie\{els for the members of the Board of 100%
Directors and the Board of Supervisors.

) - Approved the Business Performance Report for the 1st Quarter of 2024 0

09 09/NQ-HBQT  22/04/2024 and the plan targets for the 2nd Quarter of 2024. 100%

10 10/NQ-HPQT 22/04/2024 Approved the adju§tments to the contents to be presented at the 2024 100%
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

11 11/NQ-HPQT 16/05/2024 Sele(?ted Ernst & Young Vietnam Co Ltd,. as the auditing firm for the 2024 100%
Financial Statements.

12 12/NQ-HPQT 16/05/2024 - Approved the additional capital investment in Giao Long Paper Joint 100%
Stock Company.
- Selected Guang Dong Tai Yi Precision Machinery Co., Ltd as the supplier

13  13/NQ-HDPQT 16/05/2024 of the 6-color printing machine for Ben Tre Packaging One Member Limited 100%
Company.
- Approved the short-term loan plan to supplement working capital

14  14/NQ-HDQT 16/05/2024 according to the 2024-2025 business plan at the Bank for Invest-ment and 100%
Development of Vietnam (BIDV) - Ben Tre Branch.

15  15/NQ-HBPQT 20/05/2024 - Approved the final 2023 dividend payment in cash to Sharehold-ers. 100%

16 16/NQ-HPQT 12/07/2024 —Agrge to borrow caplltal from Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank for 100%
Foreign Trade - Tien Giang Branch
- i nd

17 17/NQ-HPQT 24/07/2024 Approved the Business Report for the 2" Quarter of 2024 and the plan 100%

targets for the 3 Quarter of 2024.

®

Corporate governance
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Resolutions/Decisions of the Board of Directors continueq)

No. Res_o!utlonsl Date Contents Ratio
Decisions No.

-Agree to borrow capital from Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank for

18 18/NQ-HBQT 24/07/2024 Industry and Trade - Ben Tre Branch.

100%

-Approve the use of the short-term combined credit limit and the term
19  19/NQ-HBQT 24/07/2024 foreign currency purchase limit at Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited  100%
- Ho Chi Minh City Branch.

-Agree to approve the policy of signing a contract between Dong Hai Ben

20 20/NQ-HPQT  30/09/2024 Tre Joint Stock Company and S&S Glove Joint Stock Company

100%

-Agree to approve the Business Report for the 3rd Quarter of 2024 and the

21 21/NQ-HbQT  23/10/2024 plan target for the 4th Quarter of 2024.

100%

22  22/NQ-HBQT 23/10/2024 -Approve the transfer of shares of Giao Long Paper Joint Stock Company. 100%

-Approve the purchase of shares to contribute capital to Tan Cang Giao

23  23/NQ-HBQT 11/12/2024 Long Joint stock Company

100%

Supervisory activities of the BOD towards the Board of Management

The Supervisory work of the Board of Directors on the operational activities of the Board of Management is a regular and
continuous activity. The Board of Directors focuses on supervising the compliance with the provisions of the Enterprise Law,
the Company’s Charter, and the corporate governance regulations for the operational activities of the Board of Management,
and supervises the plan targets set by the General Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of Directors. In 2024, all aspects

of the company’s operations maintained stable development.

Activities of independent Board of Directors members

Currently, the Company’s Board of Directors has 01 independent Board of Directors member. The independent Board of
Directors member fully participates in meetings, supervises, evaluates the activities of the Board of Directors, gives opinions
and votes on issues raised, and makes proposals and recommendations for the Company to develop in the future.
Evaluation opinion:

+  The operation of the Board of Directors is in accordance with legal regulations, the charter, and the orientation set by

the General Meeting of Shareholders.

+  The members of the Board of Directors always have a high sense of responsibility for their work, striving to complete

the assigned tasks well.

List of BOD members with corporate governance training certificates

None

Activities of the Board of Directors’ subcommittees

Currently, the company has not established any subcommittees under the Board of Directors.

@ Corporate governance
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4’ ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
—

Members and structure of the Board of Supervisors

Date of commencement/ no longer a Member

Member of of the Board of Supervisors

No. the Board of Supervisors Position
Date of appointment Date of discharge
1 Ms. Doan Thi Bich Thuy Head of the BOS 20/05/2017 -
2 Ms. Doan Hong Lan Member of the BOS 26/04/2012 -
3 Mr. Nguyen Quoc Binh Member of the BOS 17/06/2022 -

Meetings of the Board of Supervisors

Member of the Board of . Numb_e rof Attendance Percentage Reasons‘_) for not
No. . Position meetings . attending the
Supervisors rate voting .
attended meeting
1 Ms. Doan Thi Bich Thuy Head of the BOS 03 03/03 100%
2 Ms. Doan Hong Lan Member of the BOS 03 03/03 100%
3 Mr.Nguyen Quoc Binh  Member of the BOS 03 03/03 100%

Supervisory activities of the Board of Supervisors towards the Board of
Directors, the Board of Management and shareholders

«  The Board of Directors held meetings in accordance with the regulations of the organiza-tional charter. The Board of
Supervisors assesses that the activities of the Board of Direc-tors meet the requirements of the company’s production

and business operations in a timely manner.

The Board of Directors has issued Resolutions and Decisions related to the Company’s op-erations within its
responsibilities and authority. The Resolutions and Decisions of the Board of Directors are issued in the correct order,
with the correct authority and in accord-ance with the legal basis in accordance with the law and the Company’s
Charter.

Successfully organized the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

«  The Board of Management has fully implemented the Decisions and Resolutions of the Board of Directors; seriously

perform other powers and duties in accordance with the Com-pany’s charter and legal regulations.

For shareholders, the Board of Supervisors acts in accordance with the Resolution of the General Meeting of

Shareholders.

@ Corporate governance
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——— (CONTINUED)

Coordination of activities between the Board of Supervisors and the activities
of the Board of Directors, the Board of Management and other management
personnel

The Board of Directors (BOD) has conducted meetings in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Charter.
The Supervisory Board evaluates that the activities of the BOD have met the operational requirements of the

Company’s business and production in a timely manner.

The BOD has issued Resolutions and Decisions related to the Company’s activities within its responsibilities and
authority. The Resolutions and Decisions issued by the BOD were made in the correct order, with proper authority,

and in compliance with the legal and statutory foundations as prescribed by law and the Company’s Charter.
The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders was successfully organized.

The Board of General Directors has fully implemented the Resolutions and Decisions of the BOD, as well as diligently

carried out other rights and duties in accordance with the Company’s Charter and the law.

Concerning shareholders, the Supervisory Board has acted in compliance with the Resolutions of the General

Meeting of Shareholders.

Other activities of the Board of Supervisors (iany

None

Corporate governance
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TRANSACTIONS, REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE BOARD OF

MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Salaries, bonuses, remuneration, benefits

. Remuneration Salary and
Name Position 2024 (VND) Bonus 2024 Total (VND)
(VND)

Board of Directors

Mr. Luong Van Thanh Chairman of the Board/ Deputy General Director 150,000,000 1,285,372,265 1,435,372,265
Mr. Le Ba Phuong Vice Chairman of the Board/ General Director 138,000,000 1,803,180,800 1,941,180,800
Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia  Member of the Board of Directors 132,000,000 591,829,038 723,829,038
Mr. Marco Martinelli Member of the Board of Directors 132,000,000 160,000,000 292,000,000
Mr. Duong Thanh Cong Member of the Board of Directors 132,000,000 160,000,000 292,000,000
Board of Supervisors

Ms. Doan Thi Bich Thuy Head of the Board of Supervisors 108,000,000 - 108,000,000
Ms. Doan Hong Lan Member 74,000,000 147,496,892 221,496,892
Mr. Nguyen Quoc Binh Member 74,000,000 - 74,000,000

Board of Management

Mr. Le Ba Phuong

Vice Chairman of the Board / General Director

As mentioned above

Mr. Luong Van Thanh

Chairman of the Board / Deputy General Director

As mentioned above

Ms. Ho Thi Song Ngoc

Deputy General Director

- 1,118,844,347 1,118,844,347

Ms. Nguyen Hong Thanh

Chief Accountant

779,671,898 779,671,898

®
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L —4 . TRANSACTIONS, REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS
“Z=_ OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE BOARD OF

MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

(CONTINUED)

Share transactions
of internal persons and persons related to internal persons in 2024

Number of Shares Owned Number of Shares Owned at

at the Beginning of the the End of the Period
Period Ly do tin
No. Transaction Executor Relationship with Internal Persons v giam 9
Number of Number of
Shares Percentage Shares Percentage
01 Luong Van Thanh Chairman of the BOD/ Deputy ooy 474 5679  3.061.417 38%  Sell

General Director

Vice Chairman of the BOD/

02 Le BaPhuong General Director

7,015,008 8,72% 7.515.008 9,34% Buy

Related Person to Mr. Le Ba

03 Nguyen Thi Thuy Phuong 5,491,248 6,82% 5.689.448 7,07% Buy/Sell

04 LeBaHung Related Person to Mr. Le Ba 59740  053% 707.040 0,88%  Buy
Phuong

05 Nguyen Thanh Nghia Member of the BOD 10,877,019 13,51% 1.761.900 2,19% Sell

06 Duong Thanh Cong Member of the BOD 904,250 1.12% 1,254,250 1.56% Buy

Related Person to Mr. Duong

07 Duong Thanh Sang Thanh Cong 770,500 0.96% 0 0.00% Sell
08 Le Minh Thanh Ei':;efanpersm to. Ms. Doan 24462  0.03% 21,462 0.03%  Sell
09 Doan Thi Minh Thi Ez':;efanperson to Ms. Doan 0 0.00% 400 0.00%  Buy
10  Nguyen Quoc Binh Member of the BOS 798,348 0.99% 900,348 1.12% Buy
11 Ngo Thi Thu Hoe gi'g;eginierson to Mr Nguyen 13850  0.14% 192,050 0.24%  Buy
12 Ho Thi Song Ngoc Deputy General Director 276,011 0.34% 103,511 0.13% Sell
13 Ho Phuong Hai gglr?;engg’srson to Ms. Ho Thi 7,070 0.008% 5570  0.007%  Sell
14 Nguyen Thi Ngoc Suong Head of Internal Audit Committee 4,355 0.005% 4,455 0.006% Buy
15 Nguyen Truong Thinh ?ﬁ:iﬁ;ﬂ:;;%”g to Ms. Nguyen 87,700  0.11% 100,000 012%  Buy
The person in charge of
16 Nguyen Ngoc To Uyen 22,402 0.028% 14,490 0.018% Sell

Administration for company

(64)
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TRANSACTIONS, REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

(CONTINUED)

Transactions between the Company and its affiliated persons or between the
Company and its major shareholders, internal persons and affiliated persons

Resolution No.
or Decision No.

. . Time of approved by
*
"a'!'e qf Rela_tlonshlp . No.* date of transactions General Meeting Content, quantity, total value of
No. organization/ with the issue, place of N .
P . with the of Shareholders/ transaction
individual Company issue .
Company Board of Directors
(if any, specifying
date of issue)
*  Rent the container
1300990134 transportation:
Tan Cang 12/08/2015 . 48.228.756.386 VND
01 Giao Long Associated Ben Tre Year 2024 25/NQ-HBbQT
Joint stock Company Department of dated 29/12/2023 ° Rent the yard: 5.730.000.000
Company Planning and VND
Investment +  Capital contribution:
2.600.000.000 VND
Ben T 1301091115
b 28/04/2020 - Sell Kraft paper:
ackaging , 61.919.606.825 VND
02 One Member Subsidiary Ben Tre Year 2024 24/NQ-HBQT
Company Department of dated 29/12/2023 . Buy waste paper + core tube,
. Planning and PE film: 20.174.179.090VND
Limited
Investment
Affiliated 1301033794
Thanh Cong Oraanization 13/07/2017 *  Buy steam: 250.179.602.300
Energy 98 Ben Tre 26/NQ-HPQT VND
03 ; of internal Year 2024
Service person Duong Department of dated 29/12/2023 .  Buyelectricity130.731.607.788
Corporation Thanh Cong Planning and VND
Investment
3502451442
Affiliated 06/04/2021
izati D rt t of
o  S&SGlove O;??;Zf;:” P‘Tg:ni?ezng Vearoop4  20/NQ-HBQT - Buy waste paper: 65.772.000
Corporation 9 dated 30/9/2024 VND
person Duong Investment of
Thanh Cong Ba Ria Vung Tau
province
1301117885
Giao Long 22/10/2024 12/NQ-HBQT . gyying capital ~ shares:
dated 16/05/2024
Paper o Ben Tre 176.968.000.000 VND
05 : Subsidiaries Year 2024
Joint Stock Department of Receive transfer of shares:
Compan Planning and 22/NQ-HBQT
pany 9 dated 23/10/2024 4.373.600.000 VND
Investment

®
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=== OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

(CONTINUED)

Transactions between the Company and other objects

Transaction between internal persons of the listed company, affiliated persons of internal
persons and the Company’s subsidiaries in which the listed company takes controlling

power
-~ Name of
Relationshi Posittion subsidiaries or
Transaction P P at the . . Time of Content, quantity, total value of
No. with internal . companies which . .
executor listed transaction transaction
persons the Company
Company
control
Thanh Cong qurilz:faTShelfsgr:? Member Ben Tre
01 Energy Service P of the Packaging One 2024 *  Buy steam: 3.135.949.000 VND

Mr Duong Thanh

Corporation Cong

BOD Member Co,.Ltd

An Binh Steel

Production and Relationship with

. Member Giao Long Paper
internal persons

*  Buy steel: 27.920.454.881VND

02 Investment one Mr Nguven of the Joint Stock 2024 .
member Co., guy . BOD Company +  Sell steel: 18.968.867.500 VND
Ltd Thanh Nghia

Transactions between the Company and the company that its members of Board of
Management, the Member of the Board of Supervisors, the General Director have been
founding members or members of Board of Directors, or the General Director in three (03)
latest years

Transaction with Thanh Cong Energy Service Joint Stock Company - An affiliated organization of insider Duong Thanh Cong

Transactions between the company and companies where affiliated persons of Board
members, Supervisory Board members, and the General Director are Board members or
the General Director

Transaction with S&S Glove Corporation - An organization related to insider Duong Thanh Cong.

Other transactions of the Company (If any) that may bring material or non-material benefits
to members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, and the General
Director

None

Assessment of the Implementation of Corporate Governance Regulations
Compliance with Regulations: The Company carries out governance activities in accordance with legal regulations, The
Company charter, and internal policies.

Acting in the Interest of Shareholders: Members of the Board of Directors act in the interests of The Company and
shareholders, ensuring full and timely disclosure of information.

Supervision and Management: The Board of Directors oversees the activities of the executive team to ensure compliance
with regulations and achievement of planned targets.

Governance Improvements: The Company continuously enhances governance activities, including evaluating the

performance of members and seeking technological soluﬁc'% to improve ef-ficiency.

@ Corporate governance
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Financial statements

Audit opinion

Audited financial statements

Note: The 2024 separate audited financial statements of the Company have been
published on the Company’s website at the following link: Attps://dohacobentre.com.vn/
(Section “INVESTOR RELATIONS”)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited Tel: +84 28 3824 5252
20th Floor, Bitexco Financial Tower Fax: +84 28 3824 5250
2 Hai Trieu Street, District 1 ey.com

i Mi i .R. iet
Building a better Ho Chi Minh City, S.R. of Vietnam

working world

Reference: 12120343/67724059/FN-HN
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To: The Shareholders of DongHai Joint Stock Company of BenTre

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DongHai Joint Stock
Company of BenTre (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) as
prepared on 17 March 2025 and set out on pages 5 to 37, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated income statement and the consclidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and the notes thereto.

Management's responsibility

The Company’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese
Enterprise Accounting System and the statutory requirements relevant to the preparation and
presentation of the consolidated financial statements, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the Group's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

@ Financial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)
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Building a better
working world

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material respects,
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of the consolidated
results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Vietnamese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting System and the statutory
requirements relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited

:rm R

Nguyen Ho Khanh Tan Pham Xuan Tuan

Deputy General Director Auditor
Audit Practicing Registration Certificate Audit Practicing Registration Certificate
No. 3458-2025-004-1 No. 4639-2023-004-1

Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

17 March 2025
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnun)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2024

VIND
Code| ASSETS Notes Ending balance | Beginning balance
100 | A. CURRENT ASSETS 2,186,220,726,161 | 1,785,334,756,725
110 | I. Cash and cash equivalents 4 570,814,931,920 247,229,229,877
111 1. Cash 207,064,931,920 215,229,229,877
112 2. Cash equivalents 363,750,000,000 32,000,000,000
120 | Il. Short-term investments 334,182,014,034 101,169,764,590
123 1. Held-to-maturity investments 5 334,182,014,034 101,169,764,590
130 | lll. Current accounts receivable 745,215,196,499 893,954,809,426
131 1. Short-term trade receivables 6 671,199,741,767 631,927,963,492
132 2. Short-term advances to suppliers| 7 44,405,606,151 266,274,176,350
135 3. Short-term loan receivables 8 30,000,000,000 -
136 4. Other short-term receivables 9 9,762,421,776 4,644,158,040
137 5. Provision for short-term doubtful
receivables 6 (10,1562,573,195) (8,891,488,456)
140 | IV. Inventories 524,454,388,269 504,234,805,104
141 1. Inventories 10 524,454 388,269 504,234,805,104
150 | V. Other current assets 11,554,195,439 38,746,147,728
151 1. Short-term prepaid expenses 11 11,538,135,227 16,299,921,157
152 2. Deductible value-added tax 16,060,212 22,446,226,571
200 | B. NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,058,436,914,942 | 1,129,762,768,527
210 | I. Long-term receivables 2,568,680,000 4,735,030,000
211 1. Long-term trade receivables 6 2,5668,680,000 4,735,030,000
220 | Il. Fixed assets 994,380,127,838 | 1,041,688,114,149
221 1. Tangible fixed assets 12 993,394,405,723 | 1,041,460,816,284
222 Cost 1,751,662,621,587 | 1,696,609,188,119
223 Accumulated depreciation (758,168,215,864) | (655,148,371,835)
227 2. Intangible fixed assets 13 985,722,115 227,297,865
228 Cost 1,994,334,250 1,044,334,250
229 Accumulated amartisation (1,008,612,135) (817,036,385)
240 | lll. Long-term assets in progress 16,734,250,000 45,594,858,239
242 1. Construction in progress 14 16,734,250,000 45,694 858,239
250 | IV. Long-term investments 5,625,747,382 6,879,002,167
252 1. Investment in an associate 15 5,625,747,382 6,879,002,167
260 | V. Other long-term assets 39,228,109,722 30,865,763,972
261 1. Long-term prepaid expenses (i 38,899,929,713 30,865,763,972
262 2. Deferred tax asset 30.3 228,180,009 -
270 | TOTAL ASSETS 3,244,657,641,103 | 2,915,097,525,252

®
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

CONSOLIDATED BALANGCE SHEET (continued)

as at 31 December 2024

VND
Code| RESOURCES Notes Ending balance | Beginning balance
300 | C. LIABILITIES 1,241,578,204,990 | 1,063,193,325,576
310 | I. Current liabilities 1,236,078,204,990 | 1,062,496,403,155
311 1. Short-term trade payables 16 407,508,643,348 302,930,877,621
312 2. Short-term advances from
customers 17 15,829,091,006 7,254,770,614
313 3. Statutory obligations 18 10,863,755,657 7,495,706,917
314 4. Payables to employees 23,123,450,343 21,336,041,087
315 5. Short-term accrued expenses 19 9,713,222,819 13,299,520,347
318 6. Short-term unearned revenues 109,090,909 109,090,909
319 7. Other short-term payables 20 3,204,978,686 4,922,019,115
320 8. Short-term loans 22 762,873,933,477 701,771,824,278
322 9. Bonus and welfare fund 21 2,852,038,655 3,376,552,267
330 | I. Non-current liabilities 5,500,000,000 696,922,421
338 1. Long-term loans 22 5,500,000,000 -
341 2. Deferred tax liabilities 30.3 - 696,922,421
400 | D. OWNERS’ EQUITY 2,003,079,436,113 | 1,851,904,199,676
410 | I. Owners’ equity 23 | 2,003,079,436,113 | 1,851,904,199,676
411 1. Share capital 804,930,480,000 804,930,480,000
411a - Ordinary shares with voting
rights 804,930,480,000 804,930,480,000
412 2. Share premium 235,247,935,803 235,247,935,803
418 3. Investment and development
fund 117,344,180,651 101,877,261,214
421 4. Undistributed earnings 843,427,493,301 706,824,522 659
421a - Undistributed earnings by the
end of prior year 601,677,787,447 397,478,133,920
421b - Undistributed earnings of
current year 241,749,705,854 309,346,388,739
429 5. Non-controlling interest 2,129,346,358 3,024,000,000
440 | TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
OWNERS’ EQUITY 3,244,657,641,103 | 2,915,097,525,252
) |M,
)1L// /// ’_jli’lf
f ‘“’f’/ ol /
74

Pham Thi Minh Phung

Nguyen Hong Thanh

Preparer

Chief Accountant

General Director

@
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4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrnueo)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2024

VND
Code | ITEMS Notes Current year Previous year

01 |1. Revenues from sale of goods 241 | 3,597,426,318,483 | 3,261,255,035,745
02 | 2. Deductions 24.1 (919,173,754) (2,346,494,143)
10 | 3. Net revenues from sale of goods | 24.1 | 3,596,507,144,729 | 3,258,908,541,602
11 | 4. Costs of goods sold 25 |(3,170,476,832,202) |(2,755,379,718,199)
20 | 5. Gross profit from sale of goods 426,030,312,527 503,528,823,403
21 | 6. Finance income 24.2 34,469,814,218 29,113,353,819
22 | 7. Finance expenses 26 (38,593,394,632) (38,098,931,655)
23 In which: Interest expense (22,885,715,787) (33,205,155,630)
24 | 8. Shares of profit of an associate 15 1,636,745,215 1,894,842,717
25 | 9. Selling expenses 27 (112,803,009,661) | (108,078,537,833)
26 | 10. General and administrative

expenses 27 (39,651,125,697) (37,809,201,984)
30 | 11. Operating profit 271,089,341,970 350,550,348,467
31 | 12. Other income 28 8,274,184,800 7,856,443,647
32 | 13. Other expenses (140,725,777) (308,737,825)
40 | 14, Other profit 8,133,459,023 7,547,705,822
50 | 15. Accounting profit before tax 279,222,800,993 358,098,054,289
51 | 16. Current corporate income tax

expense 30.1 (37,951,251,211) (47,428,673,145)
52 | 17. Deferred income tax 30.3 925,102,430 (1,330,992,405)
60 | 18. Net profit after tax 242,196,652,212 309,338,388,739
61 | 19. Net profit after tax attributable

to shareholders of the parent

company 242,066,983,472 309,338,388,739
62 | 20. Net profit after tax attributable

to non-controlling interests 129,668,740 -
70 | 21. Basic earnings per share 234 2,947 3,729
71 | 22. Diluted earnings per share 234 2,947 3,729

y el f_,..——"’
W /f”( e
)= /] .
/ 2
Pham Thi Minh Phung Nguyen Hong Thanh Le Ba Phuong
Preparer Chief Accountant General Director
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2024

VND
Code| ITEMS Notes Current year Previous year
I. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
01 | Accounting profit before tax 279,222,800,993 358,098,054,289
Adjustments for:
02 Depreciation and amortisation 12, 13 105,032,042,879 102,294,331,979
03 Provision 1,261,084,739 1,264,224,273
04 Foreign exchange losses (gain)
arisen from revaluation of monetary
accounts denominated in foreign :
currency 1,546,836,746 (940,110,734)
05 Profits from investing activities (20,103,276,128) (7,571,592,919)
08 Interest expenses 26 22,885,715,787 33,205,1565,630
08 | Operating profit before changes in
working capital 389,845,205,016 486,350,062,518
09 Decrease (increase) in receivables 204,548,456,023 | (101,742,431,863)
10 Decrease in inventories 24,376,234,328 124,480,391,503
11 Increase (decrease) in payables 107,109,956,161 | (160,869,294,155)
12 Increase in prepaid expenses (3,372,379,811) (10,208,813,986)
14 Interest paid (23,102,846,855) (31,946,803,123)
15 Corporate income tax paid 18 (33,440,678,188) (57,165,628,867)
17 Other cash outflows for operating
activities (9,809,781,387) (7,658,569,399)
20 | Net cash flows from operating
activities 656,154,165,287 241,238,912,628
. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
21 Purchases and construction of fixed
assets (70,637,675,722) (88,084,006,924)
22 Proceeds from disposals of fixed
assets 347,954,545 343,364,855
23 Payment of term deposits and
payments for purchase of debt
instruments of other entities (387,012,249 444) | (102,710,547,945)
24 Collection of term deposits 124,000,000,000 20,642,869,051
25 Payments for investments in other
entities (6,973,600,000) -
27 Bank interest and dividends received 18,565,242,894 4,412,595,230
30 | Net cash flows used in investing
activities (321,710,327,727) | (165,395,725,733)
Ill. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
31 Capital contributions of non-
controlling shareholders 3,032,000,000 32,000,000
33 Drawdown of borrowings 22 1,706,317,193,531 | 1,539,961,428,933
34 Repayment of borrowings 22 |(1,639,715,084,332) |(1,356,552,904,851)
36 Dividends paid 23.2 (80,493,048,000) | (201,232,620,000)
40 | Net cash used in from financing
activities (10,858,938,801) (17,792,095,918)

Financial statements




4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrnueo)

——

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2024

VND
Code | ITEMS Notes Current year Previous year
50 | Netincrease in cash and cash
equivalents for the year 323,584,898,759 58,051,090,977
60 | Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 247,229,229,877 189,178,341,116
61 Impact of foreign exchange rate
fluctuation 803,284 (202,216)
70 | Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year 4 570,814,931,920 247,229,229,877
i

Pham Thi Minh Phung
Preparer

Nguyen Hong Thanh

Chief Accountant

Le Ba Phuong

General Director

Financial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

CORPORATE INFORMATION

DongHai Joint Stock Company of BenTre ("the Company"), is a shareholding company
incorporated under the Law on Enterprise of Vietnam pursuant to the Enterprise Registration
Certificate ("ERC”) No. 1300358260 issued by the Department of Planning and Investment
(“DPI") of Ben Tre Province on 2 April 2003 and subsequently amended ERC.

The Company's shares were listed on the Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange (‘HOSE") under
the trading code of DHC in accordance with the Decision No. 58/QD-SGDHCM issued by the
HOSE on 18 June 20089.

The current principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and trading in pulp, kraft paper,
paperboard, packaging made from paper and plastic.

The normal production and business cycle of the Group is 12 months.

The Company’s head office is located at Lot Alll, Giao Long Industrial Zone, An Phuoc
Commune, Chau Thanh District, Ben Tre Province, Vietnam.

The number of Group's employees as at 31 December 2024 was 714 (31 December 2023:
693).

Corporate structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's corporate structure includes 2 subsidiaries and an
associate. Details are as follows:

% ownership and

voting right
Status of Ending Beginning
Names Business activities  operation balance balance
(%) (%)
Subsidiaries
(1) Ben Tre Packaging Manufacturing and trading  Operating 100.00 100.00
One Member in carton packaging
Company Limited
("Ben Tre Packaging”)
(2) Giao Long Paper Joint Manufacturing and trading  Operating 99.42 98.32
Stock Company in kraft paper
Associate
(1) Tan Cang Giao Long Providing port operation Operating 26.00 26.00
Joint Stock Company and transportation
(“Tan Cang Giao Long") services

€)
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4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrnueo)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

2, BASIS OF PREPARATION

21 Accounting standards and system

The consolidated financial statements of the Group expressed in Vietnam dong ("VND"), are
prepared in accordance with Viethamese Enterprise Accounting System and Vietnamese
Accounting Standards issued by the Ministry of Finance as per:

e Decision No. 149/2001/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2001 on the Issuance and
Promulgation of Four Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 1);

s Decision No. 165/2002/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2002 on the Issuance and
Promulgation of Six Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 2);

s Decision No. 234/2003/QD-BTC dated 30 December 2003 on the Issuance and
Promulgation of Six Viethamese Accounting Standards (Series 3);

e Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC dated 15 February 2005 on the Issuance and
Promulgation of Six Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 4); and

e Decision No. 100/2005/QD-BTC dated 28 December 2005 on the Issuance and
Promulgation of Four Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 5).

Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including their utilisation
are not designed for those who are not informed about Vietnam'’s accounting principles,
procedures and practices and furthermore are not intended to present the consolidated
financial position and the consolidated results of operations and the consolidated cash flows
of the Group in accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in
countries other than Vietnam.

2.2 Applied accounting documentation system
The Company'’s applied accounting documentation system is the General Journal system.

2.3 Accounting currency
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in VND which is also the Group's
accounting currency.

2.4 Fiscal year
The Group's fiscal year applicable for the preparation of its consolidated financial statements
starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December.

2.5 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the parent
company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continued to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

The financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-company balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains or losses resulting
from intra-company transactions are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the
Group and are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Impact of change in the ownership interest of subsidiaries, without a loss of control, is
recorded in undistributed earnings.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

3.1

3.2

3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and short-term deposits,
highly liquid investments with an original maturity of not more than three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value.

Accounts receivable

Receivables are presented in the consolidated balance sheet at the carrying amounts due
from customers and other debtors, after provision for doubtful debts.

The provision for doubtful debts represents amounts of outstanding receivables at the balance
sheet date which are doubtful of being recovered. Increases or decreases to the provision
balance are recorded as general and administrative expense in the consolidated income
statement. When bad debts are determined as unrecoverable and accountant writes off those
bad debts, the differences between the provision for doubtful receivables previously made
and historical cost of receivables are included in the consolidated income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at their historical costs. The cost of inventories comprises costs of
purchase, costs of conversion (including raw materials, direct labour cost, other directly
related cost, manufacturing general overheads allocated based on the normal operating
capacity) incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

In case the net realizable value is lower than the original price, it must be calculated according
to the net realizable value.

Net realisable value (‘“NRV") represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs to complete and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

The perpetual method is used to record inventories, which are valued as follows:

Raw materials, spare parts - cost of purchase on a weighted average basis.

and merchandise

Finished goods and work-in - cost of direct materials and labour plus attributable
process manufacturing overheads based on the normal operating

capacity on weighted average basis.
Provision for obsolete inventories

An inventory provision is made for the estimated loss arising due to the impairment of value
(through diminution, damage, obsolescence, etc.) of raw materials, finished goods, and other
inventories owned by the Group, based on appropriate evidence of impairment available at
the balance sheet date.

Increases or decreases to the provision balance are recorded into the cost of goods sold
account in the consolidated income statement. When inventories are expired, obsolescence,
damage or become useless, the difference between the provision previously made and the
historical cost of inventories are included in the consolidated income statement.

®
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4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrnueo)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

The costs of tangible fixed assets comprise its purchase prices and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the tangible fixed assets to working condition for their intended use and the
costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located, if
any.

Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are added to the carrying amount of
the assets and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to the consolidated
income statement as incurred.

When tangible fixed assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are
removed from the consolidated balance sheet and any gain or loss resulting from their
disposal is included in the consolidated income statement.

Leased assets

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the
substance of the arrangement at inception date and requires an assessment of whether the
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset and the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset.

Where the Group is the lessee

Rentals under operating leases are charged to the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Where the Group is the lessor

Assets subject to operating leases are included as the Group's fixed assets in the
consolidated balance sheet. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are
recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

Lease income is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Intangible fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.

The costs of intangible fixed assets comprise its purchase prices and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the intangible fixed assets to working condition for their intended use.

Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are added to the carrying amount of
the assets and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to the consolidated
income statement as incurred.

When intangible fixed assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated amortisation are
removed from the consolidated balance sheet and any gain or loss resulting from their
disposal is included in the consolidated income statement.

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortisation of intangible fixed assets are calculated
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each asset as follows:

Buildings and structures 5 - 35 years

Machinery and equipment 3-20 years

Means of transportation 5-10 years

Office equipment 5 -8 years

Computer software 5 years

Others 8 years
(72)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds and are recorded as expense during the year in which they are
incurred.

Construction in process

Construction in progress represents the costs of acquiring new assets that have not yet been
fully installed or the costs of construction that have not yet been fully completed. Construction
in progress is stated at cost, which includes all necessary costs to construct, repair, renovate,
expand, or re-equip the projects with technologies, such as construction costs, tools and
equipment costs, project management costs, construction consulting costs, and borrowing
costs that are eligible for capitalization. Construction in progress will be transferred to the
appropriate fixed asset account when these assets are fully installed or the construction
project is fully completed, and depreciation of these assets will commence when they are
ready for their intended use.

Construction costs are recognized as expenses when such costs do not meet the conditions
to be recognized as fixed assets.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are reported as short-term or long-term prepaid expenses on the
consolidated balance sheet and amortised over the period for which the amounts are paid or
the period in which economic benefits are generated in relation to these expenses.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of a business
combination is measured as the fair value of assets given, equity instruments issued, and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus any costs directly atiributable to
the business combination. Identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at fair values at the date of business
combination.

Investments
Investment in an associate

The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence that is
neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures. The Group generally deems they have significant
influence if they have over 20% of the voting rights.

Under the equity method, the investment is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost
plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of an associate. Goodwill
arising on acquisition of the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Goodwill is not amortised and subject to annual review for impairment. The consolidated
income statement reflects the share of the post-acquisition results of operation of an
associate.

®
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4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrnueo)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12  Investments (continued)
Investment in an associate (continued)

The share of post-acquisition profit of an associate is presented on face of the consolidated
income statement and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment. Dividend receivable from an associate reduces the carrying amount
of the investment.

The financial statements of an associate are prepared for the same reporting year and use
the same accounting policies as the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring
the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are stated at their acquisition costs. After initial recognition, held-
to-maturity investments are measured at recoverable amount. Any impairment loss incurred
is recognised as finance expense in the consolidated income statement and deducted against
the value of such investments.

Provision for diminution in value of investments

Provision for diminution in value of the investment is made when there are reliable evidences
of the diminution in value of those investments at the balance sheet date.

Increases and decreases to the provision balance are recorded as finance expense in the
consolidated income statement.

3.13  Payables and accrued expenses
Payables and accrued expenses are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods
and services received, whether or not billed to the Group.

3.14  Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the Group’s reporting currency of (VND) are recorded
at the actual transaction exchange rates at transaction dates which are determined as follows:

- Transactions resulting in receivables are recorded at the buying exchange rates of the
commercial banks designated for collection; and

- Transactions resulting in liabilities are recorded at the selling exchange rates of the
commercial banks designated for payment.

At the end of the year, monetary balances denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the actual transaction exchange rates at the balance sheet dates which are determined as
follows:

- Monetary assets are translated at buying exchange rate of the commercial bank where
the Group conducts transactions regularly; and

- Monetary liabilities are translated at selling exchange rate of the commercial bank where
the Group conducts transactions regularly.

All foreign exchange differences incurred are taken to the consolidated income statement.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

3.15

3.16

3.17

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share capital
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are recognised at issuance price less incremental costs directly attributable
to the issue of shares, net of tax effects. Such costs are recognised as a deduction from share
premium.

Share premium

Share premium is the difference between the par value and the issuance price of the shares,
minus the actual expenses incurred for the issuance of the shares.

Appropriation of net profit

Net profit after tax is available for appropriation to shareholders after approval by the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, and after making appropriation to reserve funds
in accordance with the Company’s Charter and Vietnamese regulatory requirements.

> Investment and development fund

This fund is set aside for use in the Company’s expansion of its operation or in-depth
investments.

> Bonus and welfare fund

This fund is set aside for the purpose of pecuniary rewarding and encouragement,
common benefits and improvement of the employees' benefits, and presented as a liability
on the consolidated balance sheet.

» Dividend

Cash dividends are recognised as a liability in the consolidated balance sheet upon the
approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and decision for
implementation by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Stock dividends are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group
completes all required legal procedures as prevailing regulations.
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable, excluding trade discount, rebate and sales return.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have
passed to the buyer, usually upon the delivery of the goods.

Rental income

Rental income arising from operating leases is recognised in consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the terms of the lease.

Interest income:

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis based on the time and actual interest rate
for each period.
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4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrnueo)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.18 Taxation
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted as at the balance sheet date.

Current income tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement, except when
it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which case the current income tax is also
dealt with in equity.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
for the Group to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the Group
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Deferred fax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount for
consolidated financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except where the
deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
which at the time of the related transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carried forward
unused tax credit and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which deductible temporary differences, carried forward unused tax
credit and unused tax losses can be utilised, except where the deferred tax asset in respect
of deductible temporary difference which arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability which at the time of the related transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Previously
unrecognised deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at each balance sheet date and
are recoghised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow
the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the year when the asset is realised, or the liability is settled based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement, except when it
relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with
in the equity account.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right for the
Group to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or when the
Group intends either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or to realise the
assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future year in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

3.

3.19

3.20

3.21

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit after tax for the year
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group (after adjusting for the bonus and welfare
fund) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit after tax
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Group (after adjusting for interest on the
convertible preference shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would
be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related parties of the Group if one party has the ability to, directly
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operating decisions, or when the Group and other party are under
common control or under common significant influence. Related parties can be enterprises or
individuals, including close members of their families.

Segment information

A segment is a component determined separately by the Group which is engaged in providing
products or related services (business segment) or providing products or services in a
particular economic environment (geographical segment), that is subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other segments.

The current principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and trading in pulp, kraft paper,
paperboard, packaging made from paper and plastic. In addition, these activities are mainly
taking place within Vietnam. Therefore, the Group's risks and returns are not impacted by the
Group's products that the Group is manufacturing or the locations where the Group is trading.
As a result, the Group's Management is of the view that there is only one segment for business
and geography and therefore presentation of segmental information is not required.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

VND
Ending balance ~ Beginning balance

Cash on hand 151,954,100 296,902,700
Cash in banks 206,912,977,820 214,932,327 177
Cash equivalents (%) 363,750,000,000 32,000,000,000
TOTAL 570,814,931,920 247,229,229,877

(*) Cash equivalents represent term-deposits with original maturities of not more than three
months and earn interest at applicable rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

5,

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

Bonds (%)
Term deposits (**)

TOTAL

Ending balance

85,000,000,000
249,182,014,034

VND

Beginning balance

15,000,000,000
86,169,764,590

334,182,014,034

101,169,764,590

(*) These represent the bond from Viet Dragon Securities Corporation with original maturities
of one (1) year and earn average interest rates range from 8% to 8.3% per annum.

(**) This represents term deposits at banks with original maturity of more than three months
and remaining term to maturity of not more than one year from the balance sheet date

and earns interest at the applicable rates.

The Group pledged a part of its held-to-maturity investments amounting of
VND 11,000,000,000 to secure the short-term loans obtained from banks (Note 22).

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Short-term
Hoang Long International Import Export

Ending balance

VIND

Beginning balance

Investment Joint Stock Company 74,385,857,411 62,812,118,891
Phuc Hao Producing and Trading Co. Ltd. 70,977,941,064 65,020,074,192
Others 525,835,943,292 504,095,770,409

TOTAL
Provision for short-term doubtful receivables

NET

Long-term

T&V Coconut Co., Ltd
Truc Lan Vy Transportation One Member
Co., Ltd

TOTAL

671,199,741,767
(10,152,573,195)

631,927,963,492
(8,891,488,456)

661,047,168,572

623,036,475,036

1,510,300,000
1,058,380,000

2,905,900,000
1,829,130,000

2,568,680,000

4,735,030,000

(*) The Group pledged a part of short-term trade receivables to secure the short-term loans

obtained from banks (Note 22).

Details of movement of provision for short-term doubtful receivables are as follows:

VND

Current year Previous year

(8,891,488,456)
(2,374,006,862)

(7,627,264,183)
(1,457,263,030)
1,112,922,123 193,038,757

(10,1562,573,195) (8,891,488,456)

Beginning balance
Provision during the year
Reversal during the year

Ending balance
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

7.

SHORT-TERM ADVANCES TO SUPPLIERS

Advances to suppliers
- Le Nguyen Construction Houses
Company Limited
- Duc Long Investment and Production
One Member Co., Ltd
- Thien Loc Mechanical Construction and
Real Estate Co., Lid
- Others
Advances to related parties (Nofe 31)

TOTAL

SHORT-TERM LOAN RECEIVABLES

NID Manufacturing and Trading Joint Stock
Company

Viet Xanh QN Construction Trade Services
Company Limited

TOTAL

Ending balance

11,368,483,117

5,000,000,000

6,368,483,117
33,037,123,034

VND
Beginning balance

200,532,633,681

65,325,367,977

27,375,000,000
107,832,265,704
65,741,542,669

44,405,606,151

266,274,176,350

Ending balance

20,000,000,000
10,000,000,000

VND
Beginning balance

30,000,000,000

These are loans provided to suppliers for investing in infrastructure and equipment, with
original maturities of one (1) year, earn interest rate ranging from 6% to 8% per annum, and
secured by the suppliers' own machineries and equipment.

OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES

Deposit interest
Capital contribution in an associate
Staff advances

Others
TOTAL

In which:
Receivable from third parties
Receivable from a related party (Note 31)

Ending balance

4,758,566,751
2,600,000,000
2,007,915,300

395,939,725

VND
Beginning balance

2,136,565,877

1,444,584,763
1,063,007,400

9,762,421,776

4,644,158,040

7,162,421,776
2,600,000,000

4,644,158,040
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

10.

11.

INVENTORIES

Goods in transit
Raw materials
Spare parts
Finished goods
Work in process

Tools and supplies

TOTAL

VND

Ending balance Beginning balance

195,437,969,814
145,396,618,873
107,105,022,279
75,982,679,908
394,438,955
137,658,440

89,339,030,898
247,231,288,446
109,851,356,201
57,346,172,573
319,326,759
147,630,227

524,454,388,269

504,234,805,104

(*) The Company pledged a part of inventories to secure the short-term loans obtained from
banks (Note 22).
PREPAID EXPENSES

VND
Ending balance Beginning balance

Short-term 11,538,135,227 16,299,921,157
Tools and supplies 7,436,898,660 8,054,048,254
Insurance 1,717,703,186 1,452,345,587
Repairing expenses 947,742,614 6,675,147,913
Others 1,435,790,767 118,379,403

Long-term 38,999,929,713 30,865,763,972
Tools and supplies 27,025,022,840 21,965,537,466
Repairing expenses 8,864,546,775 5,083,667 630
Land rental fee (%) 2,927,511,048 3,016,673,820
Others 182,849,050 799,885,056

TOTAL 50,538,064,940 47,165,685,129

(*) The Group used the respective land use rights as mortgage for short-term bank loans at
commercial banks (Note 22).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnun)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

13.

14.

15.

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
VND
Computer software Others Total
Cost:
Beginning balance 232,602,450 811,731,800 1,044,334,250
New purchases - 950,000,000 950,000,000
Ending balance 232,602,450 1,761,731,800 1,994,334,250
In which:
Fully amortised 82,602,450 616,731,800 699,334,250
Accumulated amortisation:
Beginning balance (130,273,810) (686,762,575) (817,036,385)

Amortization for the year

Ending balance

Net carrying amount:

(30,082,272)

(161,493,478)

(191,575,750)

(160,356,082)

(848,256,053)

(1,008,612,135)

Beginning balance 102,328,640 124,969,225 227,297,865
Endrng balance 72,246,368 91 3,4?5,747 985.?22.1 15
CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS
VND
Ending balance  Beginning balance
Machinery and equipment 16,734,250,000 -
Construction and renovation of paper factories - 44 595,817,493
Others - 999,040,746
TOTAL 16,734,250,000 45,594,858,239
INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
Ending balance Beginning balance
Ownership Cost Ownership Cost
(%) VND (%) VND

Tan Cang Giao Long

26.00

5,625,747,382

26.00

6,879,002,167

®

Financial statements




|

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

15.

16.

17.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continue)

Details of this investment in an associate is as follows:

Cost of investment:

Beginning and ending balances

Accumulated share in post-acquisition profit of the associate:

Beginning balance

Share in post-acquisition profit of the associate for the year

Dividends

Ending balance

Net carrying amount:
Beginning balance

Ending balance

SHORT-TERM TRADE PAYABLES

Payables to suppliers
- Vipa Lausanne SA
- Others

Related parties (Note 31)

Ending balance

393,515,202,348
124,040,5692,874
269,474,609,474

13,993,441,000

VND

2,600,000,000

4,279,002,167
1,636,745,215
(2,990,000,000)

2,925,747,382

6,879,002,167

5,625,747,382

VND
Beginning balance

296,272,610,806
56,976,894,915
239,295,615,891
6,658,366,815

TOTAL

407,508,643,348

302,930,877,621

SHORT-TERM ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS

Jinhong Industrial (Hong Kong) Co. Limited
Taicang Lingbo Paper Co., Ltd

Jiangsu Wuyang Group Co., Ltd

Zhejiang Wuyi Zhangshi Packaging Industry
Co., Ltd.

Xiamen Gulong Development Co., Ltd

Others

Ending balance

5,513,520,612
4,490,691,096
2,993,850,862
2,175,906,885

655,121,641

VIND
Beginning balance

2,652,549,646

3,476,356,380
1,225,864,588

TOTAL

15,829,091,096

7,254,770,614
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnun)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

18.

19.

20,

21.

STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS
VND
Beginning Increase Decrease Ending
balance during the year during the year balance
Receivables
Deductible
value-added
tax 22,446,226 571 249,118,638,439 (271,548,804,798) 16,060,212
Payables
Corporate
income tax 4,429,838, 774 37,951,251,211  (33,440,678,188) 8,940,411,797
Value-added
tax 406,786,901 288,565,107,936 (287,372,942,279) 1,698,952 558
Import VAT 05,756,227,584  (95,756,227,584)
Personal
income tax 2,659,081,242 9,076,003,790 (11,410,693,730) 324,391,302
Import tax - 382,253,739 (382,253,739) -
Others - 940,604,585 (940,604,585) -
TOTAL 7,495,706,917 432,671,448,845 (429,303,400,105) 10,863,755,657
SHORT-TERM ACCRUED EXPENSES
VIND
Ending balance Beginning balance

Utilities
Interest expenses
Others

TOTAL

OTHER SHORT-TERM PAYABLES

Commission fees
Bonus for the Boards of Directors and Supervision

Others
TOTAL

BONUS AND WELFARE FUND

Beginning balance
Appropriation of bonus and welfare fund
Utilisation of bonus and welfare fund

Ending balance

8,167,038,517
1,041,221,439

11,6562,716,390
1,258,352,507

1,317,684,232

409,217,287

1,478,177,167

504,962,863 388,452,450
9,713,222,819 13,299,520,347
VND

Ending balance Beginning balance

3,079,247,610
507,717,287
1,335,054,218

3,376,552,267
6,186,767,775
(6,711,281,387)

3,204,978,686 4,922,019,115
VND
Current year Previous year

3,445,949,978
7,589,171,688
(7,658,569,399)

2,852,038,655

3,376,552,267

®

Financial statements




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

Ay

000°'000'000'00% ANA 0} Bununowe
S3|BeAI20al) apel) Jaylo pue p11 oo

‘P11 (weweip) jueg OgSH
Youelg 8i1] uag - apet] pue Ansnpu|
10]>{UEY [BIDISWILIOD X001S JUIOf WEUIBIA

youeug a1 usg
- WeUBIA JO Juswdojana pue jusuwisanu|
1O} YUuBg |BloJawwo)) }001S ulof

youelg bueis) usi] - WeusIA Jo apel|
ubleio4 Joj ueg |eloJaWWoy) }o0)S Julop

syueg

V101l

WEUSIA YBd-X0g WOl enp s|qeAledal spel] 8¢ szoz fen vi osy'sLLcer'ee
'000'000'000°002 G20z fen G 0} o
aNA 0} Bununowe ss|qeAlaoal apel| 6€-0¢ Gzoz fluenuer Lwold G/6°€SE'96/ 86
uonepodsuen
O suesw pue juswdinbs pue sauauIyoeWw
'saLojJUSAUl ‘000°000°000 L ANA gzoz aunr ¢ ol
1o anjea ay} ypm sisodag 9¥-2'¢ GzZ0zZ Aenuer yz wol4 681'G19'858LCC
‘000'000°000°0L ANA
JO anjen sy} yum syisodaq
‘fuoype | Buo oeln
Jjo wayshs Buissaooid dind pue ‘wa)shs
auiyoew Jaded ‘sisjund 10j0o ‘Aiojoe4 Gz0zZ ®unr gz o
z Buo oelo) 0} pebuojeq s1osSe paydeENe Iy 9F-0'€ G20z Aenuer gwold  2GS'8YT'96L'ELY
ZLpue LL'0L ‘9 G SOJON ed% aNA
sjel9)e|jon Jsaig)ul  8jep Aunjew sauejeq buipug
“SMOJ|0} SE Sl S|ENdeD Bupiom s} 2)el|ioe} O} SHUEQ] WO SUEO| Wisl-Hoys 8y} jo sjeeg (1)
Llv'ege'cle'89L - (zee'vg0'5LL'6€9°)) LES'E61°LLE"90L ) 822728 LLLLOL

000'000°005°S
000°000°005°S
000000°000°C
LlY'€€6'€.8°00L
LLY'ee6'CL8ToL

souejeq buipug
anA

(000'000'000°2)

(000°000°000°2)
000'000'000'2

000°000°000°2

uoeolISSEI08Y

(000°000'005)

(000‘000°00%)

(zee'pR0O'GLZ'6ET'L)

(zee'vB0°'5L2°6€9°))

asealoaq

000°000°000'8

000°000°000°8

LEG'EhLLLE'BBI'L
LES°e6L°2LE'869°L

asealoU]

- (1) yueq e wodlj

ueo| wiay-buo’]

- una3-buo

- (1) yUEq WoJ} UEOD] WIB)

-6uo| 40 uoipod Jusun)d
(1) sxjueq wol
UBO| WiIS}-UoYs

uLgl-Joys

8/2'VE8'LLLL0L

81Z°pZ8 LLLLOL

soueleq buluuibeag

SNVO1 44

usy} pepus Jeah ay} 104 pue g0z Jequiesaq Lg e se

(penuiuod) SININTLYLS TVIONVYNI4 G31VAITOSNOD 3HL OL S3LON

Financial statements




/

e

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnun)

juawdinba pue Aauiyoep

2L 8ION
S[elsje|ljoD

0000000002 uorpiod Jua.Lng
000°000'005 'S uoiuod JuaLno-UuoN
yorym uf
youeig a1 uag -
820z Jaquaidag WEUISIA JO Juswdojens PUe JUBWISSAU|
LS 8Z 01 GZOZ YoleN Gz wold  000°000°00S £ 10)Xjueg [BlR1RWWo) %00)S JuIor
ed% anA
jseseu  ejep Aunjepn soueeq Buipug syueg

:SMOJ|0} Se aJe Juswdinba pue Alsuyoew aseyoaind Joj syueq woly sueo| wial-6uoj auy jo sieea (1)

(penupuod) SNVO1 ‘22

LIy'ee6°c28'29. IVLiOL
uay) pepua Jeak ay} Joj pue $Z0g Jeqweoe( LE je se
(penuiuod) SINJWILYLS TVIONVYNI4 G31VANOSNOD 3HL OL S3L1ON

Financial statements




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

Ay

€11'96F'620'€00'2  8SE'OPE'BZL'E  LOL'E6Y L2 S8 1GO'08L'PPE'LLL  €£08'GE6'LPZ'GEC  000'08¥'0£6'V08
(000°000°000°¢) - (000°000°000°€) - - -
(612'191'081'9) - (2.'29/'981'9) - = -
- . (2ev'6L6'99%'GL)  LEV'6L6'99¥'SE - -
(000'009'¢.2€'P) (zeg'zee'os0'y) (819'242°21¢€) - - -
000'000'2E0'E 000'000'2E0'E - - - -
(ooo'sv0's6v'08) - (000'8r0'e6¥7'08) - - =
ZLT'eso'oel'ere 0VL'899'621 2.¥'€86'990'2¥C - = =
9.9'66L'¥06'162'L  000'000'+20'C  6S9'7ZS'#Z8'90. $12'19Z'2/8°L01 €08'GE6'LFZ'GEZ  000'08¥'0£6'V08
0/9'66L'P06'LGR'L 000'000'PZ0'C 6G9'ZZS'v28'90L  #LZ'L9Z°//8°L0L  £08'GE6'L¥T'SET  000'08%'0E6'¥08
= (000'000'Q) 000'000°'8 % z -
000'000'2¢ 000'000'2¢ - - - -
(999'L/1'68G'2) - (899'121'685'L) - - =
= = (Lzz'626'226'8L) 12Z'626'CL6'8L - =
(000'0z9'2ez’'L02) - (ooo‘ozo'zee'L0g) - - -
- - (ooo‘05Z'986'+0L) - g 000'052'986'¥0L
6E.'88E'8EE'60E - 6£2'88€'86€'60¢ - 2 -
6Z9'709'SSE'1S2'L  000°000°000'S  628'v0L'662°08L  £66'LEE'406'2Z8  £08'GE6'/¥2'6EC  000'0EZ'+¥6'669
|ejol gjsasajul sbures puny Juswdofersp  wniwaid aieys repdea areys
Buljjouod -uoN pPaInguUIsIpUN pue Juswijsanuf
anNA

o2oueeq Buipug

(.) uawebeuew o} snuog
(+) puny ssejem

pue snuoq 0} uofjendoiddy
() puny juswdolaaap

puE Juawjsanul 0} uoneudolddy
sisaJajuil Buljjosuoo-uou
woJj uopisinboy
uonnquiuoo [eyded

(z°€2 @joN) spusping

Jeak auy Joj Jyoud 18N
aoue|eq Buuuibeg

Jeaf jusiiny

aouejeq Buipug

Kejpisgns

e ul diysieumo ayy abueyn
uonngLiuod [eyded

puny aJejem

pue snuoq o} uoijeudoiddy
puny juswdojaasp

pue juawisanul 0} uoneudoiddy
spuaplAid

SpusplAlp

Joj saJeys mau Jo aouenss|
Jead ay} 1o} Joud 1aN
aoue|eq Buiuuibag

Jeak snojaald

Aynba ,Si8UMO Ul 8SB8IJ8p pue Bsealau]

ALIND3 SYINMO

1ee

€T

usy) pspus Jead sy} 1o} pue ¥¢0g Jequaodeq LE Je se
(penuUUOd) SINFNILVLS TVIONYNI4 A3 LYAIMOSNOD 3IHL OL SILON

Financial statements




y 4
A N
—
—

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnun)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

23.

23.1

23.2

23.3

OWNERS’ EQUITY (continued)

Increase and decrease in owners’ equity (continued)

(*) In accordance with the Resolution of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders No.
01/NQ-DHDCD dated 25 April 2024, the Company's shareholders approved the
appropriation of the investment and development funds, bonus and welfare funds and
bonus to management with a total amount of VND 15,466,919,437, VND 6,186,767,775
and VND 3,000,000,000, respectively.

Capital transactions with shareholders and distribution of dividends

VND

Share capital
Beginning balance
Shares issuance

Ending balance

Current year

804,930,480,000

Previous year

699,944,230,000
104,9886,250,000

804,930,480,000

804,930,480,000

Dividends

Dividends declared (*) 160,986,096,000 225,731,206,500

Dividends paid by cash (%) (80,493,048,000)  (201,232,620,000)
- Dividends of 2023 by cash (80,493,048,000) (80,493,048,000)
- Dividends of 2022 by cash - (120,739,572,000)

Issuance of new shares for dividends - (104,986,250,000)

(¥  The Resolution of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders No. 01/NQ-DHDCD
dated 25 April 2024 approved the dividend payment of 2023 at 20% par value of
ordinary shares in cash from the undistributed earnings of 2023 at total value of
160,986,096,000 VVND.

During the year 2024, the Company has paid the final dividends of 2023 in cash to
existing shareholders at the rate of 10% par value of ordinary shares and with a total
value of 80,493,048,000 VND, according to the Resolution of the Board of Directors
(“BOD") No. 15/NQ-HDQT dated 20 May 2024. Besides, the Company has completed
the advance of the 15 of 2023 in cash at rate of 10% par value of ordinary shares and
with a total value of 80,493,048,000 VND in 2023.

Shares
Number of shares
Ending balance  Beginning balance

Authorised shares 80,493,048 80,493,048
Issued and fully paid shares

Ordinary shares 80,493,048 80,493,048
Shares in circulation

Ordinary shares 80,493,048 80,493,048

The par value of the Company’s shares is VND 10,000 per share. The holders of the ordinary
shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. Each ordinary
share carries one vote per share without testriction.

&)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

23.

234

OWNERS’ EQUITY (continued)

Earnings per share

The following reflects the income and share data used in the earnings per share

computations:
Current year
Net profit after tax
allocated to shareholders
owning common shares
(VND) 242 066,983,472

Distribution to the bonus
and welfare funds from

undistributed earnings (* (4,841,339,669)

Previous year

Previous year

(As restated) (As previously stafed)

309,338,388,73¢9

(9,186,767,775)

309,338,388,739

(6,186,767,775)

Net profit after tax is
allocated to shareholders
owning common shares
to calculate the above
basic interest (VND)

Weighted average
number of ordinary
shares for the year
(shares)

237,225,643,803

80,493,048

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per
share (VND per share)
Diluted earnings per
share (VND per share)

2,947

2,947

300,151,620,964

80,493,048

3,729

3,729

303,151,620,964

80,493,048

3,766

3,766

(i)  Net profit used to compute earnings per share for the year 2023 as presented in the
consolidated financial statements for the year 2023 was restated to reflect the actual
allocation to funds from 2023 retained earnings following the Resolution of the 01/NQ-

DHDCD dated 25 April 2024.

Net profit used to compute earnings per share for the year 2024 was temporarily adjusted
for the provisional allocation to the bonus and welfare fund at the rate of 2% of the 2024
profit after tax, in accordance with the Resolution of the AGM No. 01/NQ-DHDCD dated

25 April 2024.

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares
between the reporting date and the date of completion of these consolidated financial

statements.

®
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnun)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

24.

24.1

24.2

25,

REVENUE

Revenue from sale of goods

Gross revenue

Of which:
Sale of finished goods
Sale of goods
Other sales

Sales reduction

Of which:
Trade discounts
Sales allowances

Sales returns

Net revenue

Of which:
Sale of finished goods
Sale of goods
Other sales

Of which:
Sale to others
Sale to related parties (Note 31)

Finance income

Interest income
Foreign exchange gains
Income from advance contracts from vendors

Others
TOTAL

COST OF GOODS SOLD

Cost of finished goods sold
Cost of goods sold

TOTAL

Current year
3,597,426,318,483

3,424,816,885,517
172,463,978,421
145,454,545

(919,173,754)

(802,202,514)
(16,032,380)
(100,938,860)

VND
Previous year

3,261,255,035,745

3,248,916,380,991
12,193,200,209
145,454,545

(2,346,494,143)

(582,802,378)
(714,823,445)
(1,048,868,320)

3,596,507,144,729

3,258,908,541,602

3,423,897,711,763  3,246,569,886,848
172,463,978,421 12,193,200,209
145,454,545 145,454,545
3,577,638277,229  3,258,908,641,602
18,968,867,500 #
VND

Current year Previous year
18,197,243,768 5,797,097,489
11,516,091,108 12,389,568,975
4,297,464,940 10,719,935,940
459,014,402 206,751,415
34,469,814,218 29,113,353,819
VIND

Current year Previous year

3,006,782,396,112
163,694,436,090

2,745,293,423,308
10,086,294,891

3,170,476,832,202

2,755,379,718,199

®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

26.

27.

28.

FINANCE EXPENSES

Interest expense
Foreign exchange loss

TOTAL

Current year

22,885,715,787
15,707,678,845

VIND
Previous year

33,205,155,630
4,893,776,025

38,593,394,632

38,098,931,655

SELLING EXPENSES AND GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Selling expenses

Expense for external services
Labour costs

Raw materials expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Others

General and administration expenses
Labour costs

Expense for external services ()
Depreciation and amortisation

Provision doubtful debts

Other expenses

TOTAL

VND

Current year Previous year
112,803,009,661 108,078,537,833
83,492,609,287 79,022,769,491
20,545,944 784 18,849,098,677
4,596,363,875 5,208,932,041
737,898,741 1,054,853,264
3,430,192,974 3,942 884,360
39,651,125,697 37,809,201,984
15,622,900,297 13,567,822,414
13,080,641,613 13,619,912,109
2,944,026,655 2,379,924,4860
1,261,084,739 885,883,674
6,742,472,393 7,355,659,327
152,454,135,358 145,887,739,817

(*) Professional service fees incurred in current year and prior year were as follows:

Audit fees of separate and consolidated

financial statements of the Group
Other assurance service fees of the
Company and its subsidiaries

TOTAL

OTHER INCOME

Compensation
Gain from disposal of fixed assets

Others
TOTAL

VND
Current year Previous year
260,000,000 250,000,000
305,000,000 245,000,000
565,000,000 495,000,000

VIND
Current year Previous year

7,510,569,909
269,287,145
494,327,746

7,856,443,647

8,274,184,800

7,856,443,647

@
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnun)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

29.

30.

30.1

PRODUCTION AND OPERATING COSTS BY ELEMENTS

VND

Current year Previous year

Raw materials 2,295,155,259,083  1,843,506,326,078

Expense for external services 665,852,141,285 687,587,964,511

Labour costs 181,202,331,119 166,374,973,781
Depreciation and amortisation

(Notes 12 and 13) 105,032,042,879 102,294,331,979

Others 74,513,440,486 72,865,213,391

TOTAL 3,321,755,214,852  2,872,628,809,740

CORPORATE INCOME TAX

The Group is obliged to pay corporate income tax (“CIT") at the rate of 20% of taxable profit.

Expansion investment project of the Company: In respect of Giao Long Phase 2 Paper
factory, the Company is entitled to corporate income tax exemption for two years from its first
year having taxable income (2020 - 2021) and a reduction of 50% for the following four (4)
years (2022 - 2025).

Ben Tre Packaging: This Company is entitied to an exemption from CIT for two (2) years
commencing from the first year of earning taxable income and a 50% reduction for the
following four (4) years.

Giao Long Paper: This Company is entitled to tax incentive commencing from the first year of
generating revenue from investment project, applying an incentive CIT rate of 17% for a
period of 10 years, an exemption from CIT for two (2) years commencing from the first year
of earning taxable income (2024-2025), and a 50% reduction for the following four (4) years
(2025-2028).

The Group’s tax returns are subject to examination by the tax authorities. Because the
application of tax laws and regulations to many types of transactions is susceptible to varying
interpretations, the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements could be
changed at a later date upon determination by the tax authorities.

CIT expense

VND
Current year Previous year
Current CIT expense 37,799,783,891 47 147,958,315

Adjustment for under accrual of tax
from prior years 151,467,320 280,714,830
37.951,251,211 47,428,673,145
Deferred CIT (income) expenses (925,102,430) 1,330,992,405
TOTAL 37,026,148,781 48,759,665,550

®
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conmnuen)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

30.

30.1

30.2

30.3

CORPORATE INCOME TAX (continued)

CIT expense (continued)

Reconciliation between CIT expense and the accounting profit before tax multiplied by CIT
rate is presented below:

VIND
Current year Previous year
Accounting profit before tax 279,222,800,993  358,098,054,289
At CIT rate applicable 55,844,560,199 71,619,610,858
Adjustments:
Non-deductible expenses 792,707,821 704,001,195
Share profit in an associate (327,349,043) (378,968,543)
Tax loss of a subsidiary (884,940,858) (223,948,776)
CIT incentive/deduction (18,550,296,658)  (23,241,744,014)
Adjustment for under accrual of tax
from prior years 151,467,320 280,714,830
CIT expense 37,026,148,781 48,759,665,550
Current tax

The current tax payable is based on taxable income for the current year. The taxable income
of for the year differs from the profit as reported in the consolidated income statement because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are not taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax

The following are the deferred tax asset recognised by the Group, and the movement thereon,
during the current and previous year:

VIND
Consolidated balance sheet Consolidated income statement
Ending Beginning
balance balance Current year Previous year
Unrealized profit 228,180,009 274,832,140 (46,652,131) (359,237,844)
Provisions - (971,754,561) 971,754,561 (971,754,561)
Deferred tax asset
(liabilities) 228,180,009 (696,922,421)
Deferred income tax income (expenses) 925,102,430 (1,330,992,405)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

31.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

List of related parties that have a controlling relationship and related parties incurred
transactions with the Company during the year is as follows:

Related parties

Tan Cang Giao Long

An Binh Steel Production and Investment
One Member Company Limited

("An Binh Steel")

Thanh Cong Energy Service Corporation
(“Thanh Cong Energy")

Relationship

Associate

The company has a legal representative
who is a related party of the member of the
Board of Directors

Common member of Board of Directors

Significant transactions with related parties for current and previous year were as follows:

Related parties Transactions

Purchase of steam
Purchase of electricity

Thanh Cong Energy

Purchases of services
Yard rental
Capital contribution

Tan Cang Giao Long

An Binh Steel Purchase of goods

Sales of goods

VND

Ending balance Beginning balance

263,315,551,300
130,731,607,788

48,228,756,386
5,730,000,000
2,600,000,000

27,920,454,881
18,968,867,500

291,061,119,000
77,729,434,235

39,033,607,640
7,025,000,000

Amounts due to and due from related parties as at balance sheet dates were as follows:

Related parties Transactions

Other short-term receivables

Tan Cang Giao Long Capital contribution

Short-term trade payables

Purchase of services
and yard rental

Tan Cang Giao Long

Purchase of steam
and electricity

Thanh Cong Energy

TOTAL

Short-term advances to suppliers

Thanh Cong Energy Purchase of steam
An Binh Steel Purchase of goods
TOTAL

-y
2
(=)

VND

Ending balance Beginning balance

2,600,000,000 -
13,717,387,600 6,350,826,015
276,053,400 307,540,800
13,993,441,000 6,658,366,815
33,037,123,034 35,029,042,669

30,712,500,000

33,037,123,034

65,741,542,669

€
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

31. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Remuneration to members of the Board of Directors, Management and Board of Supervision:

Individuals

Mr Le Ba Phuong

Mr Luong Van Thanh
Ms Ho Thi Song Ngoc
Mr Nguyen Thanh Nghia

Mr Marco Martinelli

Mr Duong Thanh Cong
Ms Doan Thi Bich Thuy
Ms Doan Hong Lan

Mr Nguyen Quoc Binh
TOTAL

Paosition

Vice Chairman/

General Director
Chairman/Deputy
General Director

Deputy General Director/
Director

Non-executive

member of BOD
Non-executive -
Independence member of
BOD

Non-executive

member of BOD

Head of BOS

Member of BOS

Member of BOS

VND

Remuneration (%)
Current year  Previous year
1,941,180,800 1,697,638,898

1,435,372,265

1,118,844,347

1,323,942 484

1,215,065,211

723,829,038 99,000,000
292,000,000 99,000,000
292,000,000 99,000,000
108,000,000 58,000,000
221,496,892 188,786,815
74,000,000 43,500,000
6,206,723,342 4,823,833,408

(*) Comprising salary, allowance, bonus and other benefits.

32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

The Group rents its land use rights under operating lease arrangements. The minimum lease
commitments as at the reporting dates under the operating lease agreements are as follows:

Less than 1 year
From 1 year to 5 years
Over 5 years

TOTAL

3,888,857,779
3,675,431,116
22,862,660,407

VND

Ending balance Beginning balance

7,202,487,557
10,487,307,561
26,060,670,004

30,426,949,302

43,750,465,122

33. OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEM

Foreign currency

Ending balance Beginning balance
Original VND Original VND
currency equivalent currency equivalent
Euro (EUR) 48.56 1,268,065 69.46 1,831,671
United State Dollar
(USD) 218,174.52 _ 5,509,124,805 90,020.08 _ 2,167,683,526

5,610,392,870

2,169,515,197
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year ended then

34.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 17 February 2025, the Board of Directors approved BOD Resolution No. 08/NQ-HPQT on
the 1% advance payment of the 2024 dividend by cash for exist shareholders at the rate of
10% of par value and with a total value of 80,493,048,000 VND, in accordance with the

Resolution of the AGM No. 01/NQ-DHDCD dated 25 April 2024.

Except for the event as disclosed above, there has been no significant matter or circumstance
that has arisen since the balance sheet date that requires adjustment or disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Ben Tre Province, Vietnam

17 March 2025
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Pham Thi Minh Phung Nguyen Hong Thanh Le Ba Phuong
Preparer Chief Accountant General Director
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